Published for SISSA by 🖉 Springer

RECEIVED: November 9, 2015 ACCEPTED: December 20, 2015 PUBLISHED: January 11, 2016

The heterotic superpotential and moduli

Xenia de la Ossa,^a Edward Hardy^b and Eirik Eik Svanes^{c,d,e}

^a Mathematical Institute, University of Oxford, Andrew Wiles Building, Radcliffe Observatory Quarter, Woodstock Road, Oxford OX2 6GG, U.K. ^bAbdus Salam International Centre for Theoretical Physics, Strada Costiera 11, 34151, Trieste, Italy ^cSorbonne Universités, UPMC Univ Paris 06, UMR 7589, LPTHE, F-75005, Paris, France ^dCNRS, UMR 7589, LPTHE, F-75005, Paris, France ^eSorbonne Universités, Institut Lagrange de Paris, 98 bis Bd Arago, 75014 Paris, France *E-mail:* delaossa@maths.ox.ac.uk, ehardy@ictp.it, esvanes@lpthe.jussieu.fr

ABSTRACT: We study the four-dimensional effective theory arising from ten-dimensional heterotic supergravity compactified on manifolds with torsion. In particular, given the heterotic superpotential appropriately corrected at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha')$ to account for the Green-Schwarz anomaly cancellation mechanism, we investigate properties of four-dimensional Minkowski vacua of this theory. Considering the restrictions arising from F-terms and D-terms we identify the infinitesimal massless moduli space of the theory. We show that it agrees with the results that have recently been obtained from a ten-dimensional perspective where supersymmetric Minkowski solutions including the Bianchi identity correspond to an integrable holomorphic structure, with infinitesimal moduli calculated by its first cohomology. As has recently been noted, interplay of complex structure and bundle deformations through holomorphic and anomaly constraints can lead to fewer moduli than may have been expected. We derive a relation between the number of complex structure and bundle moduli removed from the low energy theory in this way, and give conditions for there to be no complex structure moduli or bundle moduli remaining in the low energy theory. The link between Yukawa couplings and obstruction theory is also briefly discussed.

KEYWORDS: Superstrings and Heterotic Strings, Superstring Vacua, Flux compactifications

ARXIV EPRINT: 1509.08724





Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	The heterotic superpotential with torsion	3
	2.1 First order deformations	4
3	The moduli space	5
	3.1 Second order deformations	5
	3.2 Holomorphic bundle deformations	6
	3.3 Anomaly deformations	9
	3.4 The map \mathcal{H} , and extending E by T^*X	10
	3.5 On deformations of \overline{D} and ker(\mathcal{H})	12
4	Symmetries, D-terms and the Green-Schwarz mechanism	15
	4.1 Symmetries of the Hermitian moduli	15
	4.2 Yang-Mills equations and D-terms	17
5	On the $End(TX)$ -valued connection	19
6	Yukawa couplings and obstructions	21
	6.1 Obstructions for Calabi-Yau compactifications	22
7	Calabi-Yau compactifications, and surjective and injective maps	23
8	Discussion and conclusions	25
A	Compactifications and $SU(3)$ -structure	26
в	The α' -expansion and the Strominger system	28

1 Introduction

While the low energy effective theories arising from compactifications of heterotic string theory are attractive for their ease of reproducing the matter content and gauge interactions of the Standard Model, moduli stabilisation has long remained a significant challenge. For mathematical clarity and the ability to calculate many explicit examples, much of the literature so far has focused on the Calabi-Yau compactifications first considered in [1]. However, there is no intrinsic reason to prefer these to compacifications including torsion. The latter may even, speculatively, be hoped to be more amiable to moduli stabilisation. Indeed it has been argued that torsion can be used in a similar fashion to flux to stabilise moduli in heterotic compactifications [2–4].

In this paper we explore the four-dimensional effective theories arising from compacifications with torsion, focusing especially on identifying their moduli space. Of course, a large body of related work already exists. The general supersymmetry conditions and structures for such theories were given in the papers [5-8], and the ten-dimensional action was obtained in [9, 10] while an early study of the relevant geometrical tools appeared in [11]. Further study, explicit examples of flux compactifications, and important results regarding the moduli of these theories followed for example in [12, 13]. Particularly relevant to our current work, [14, 15] considered the moduli space of heterotic compactifications under certain simplifying assumptions. Additionally, in [16] the relation of the superpotential to the moduli space was studied, and it was shown that some torsional solutions typically lead to a small compactification radius: a regime in which it can be hard to make sense of the supergravity approximation.

In the torsion free Calabi-Yau case, the infinitesimal moduli corresponding to simultaneous deformations of the bundle together with the complex structure of the Calabi-Yau, have been identified and expressed in terms of Atiyah Classes in [17]. In particular, the moduli space is not simply the direct product of the complex structure and bundle moduli. Instead, as a deformation of the complex structure alters the definition of a holomorphic bundle, if a compensating deformation in the bundle is not possible in this direction it will not correspond to a massless field. From the perspective of the 4d theory, this was understood as F-terms associated to (possibly heavy) modes lifting the potential in some directions, and examples have been obtained where no complex structure moduli remain in the low energy theory [18, 19].

Recently the infinitesimal moduli of solutions of the Strominger system with torsion from the perspective of the ten-dimensional supergravity theory has been understood [20– 22]. In particular, it was shown how to include the heterotic anomaly in a natural extension of the holomorphic Atiyah story. Specifically, in [20] it was shown how the Strominger system can be rephrased as an integrability condition for a holomorphic structure on a double extension bundle. This then includes the complex base, the holomorphic bundle *and* the heterotic Bianchi identity. It is the purpose of the present paper to re-derive the results of this paper from the perspective of the four-dimensional superpotential, thus generalising the work done in [18], which focused on the complex structure moduli of the base together with the bundle moduli. It should be noted that a couple of key features of the Strominger system are not accounted for by the holomorphic double extension. In particular, the manifold is required to be conformally balanced while the bundles should satisfy the Yang-Mills condition. We shall see how these conditions are accounted for in the moduli problem, and how they relate to D-term conditions in the four-dimensional effective supergravity.

The paper is organised as follows. In section 2, we study the first order variations of the superpotential with torsion which produces some of the well known constraints on the compactifying 6 dimensional manifold X and the gauge vector bundle V over X, namely that X is a complex manifold with a nowhere vanishing holomorphic three form Ω , that $\operatorname{End}(V)$ and $\operatorname{End}(TX)$ are equipped with holomorphic connections and moreover, that the three form flux H is must be related to the hermitian form ω by the formula $H = d^c \omega$ (see appendix A). In section 3 we show how the infinitesimal moduli in torsional theories can be derived by considering the four-dimensional superpotential of the low energy effective theory. The result is found to agree with the ten-dimensional perspective apart from an extra restriction on the moduli space. We also review the computation of the moduli space in terms of maps on cohomologies, and investigate these maps further in relation to the lifting of some of the bundle and complex structure moduli. In particular, one of the main results of this paper uses these maps to prove that at least as many complex structure moduli as bundle moduli are lifted from the four-dimensional massless spectrum.

In section 4 we show that the additional restriction mentioned above which is obtained in the ten-dimensional supergravity computation, not arising from F-terms in the effective theory, is generated by four-dimensional D-terms completing the correspondence between the work in [20] and the study of the superpotential of the effective four-dimensional theory. Similarly to the Calabi-Yau compactifications which had been studied previously, these restrictions come from the requirement that the variation of the ten-dimensional gaugino fields vanishes. This is equivalent to the polystability of the gauge bundle. In section 5 we also discuss deformations of the End(TX)-valued connection appearing in the Bianchi identity. As shown in [23] these correspond to field redefinitions and can hence be ignored from a physics point of view. They are however needed for the most natural implementation of the mathematical structure presented here. We also mention the role of higher order obstructions and Yukawa couplings in section 6, although many details of this topic are left to further work.

Finally, in section 7 we consider example compactifications. We revisit the standard embedding [1], showing that as expected no margial moduli will be lifted in this case. We then turn to consider conditions for all bundle and/or complex structure moduli to be lifted (previous work on this topic has appeared in [17–19]). The conclusions we draw are not specific to Calabi-Yau compactifications, extending previous results to more general torsional compactifications. The most phenomenologically interesting examples of smooth compactifications that our results are relevant to (so far in the literature) are of the form where a large volume compact $\alpha' \rightarrow 0$ Calabi-Yau limit exists.

We have left some technicalities concerning SU(3)-structures and the α' -expansion to appendix A and B.

2 The heterotic superpotential with torsion

We consider compactifications to four dimensions which preserves N = 1 supersymmetry. This implies that the six-dimensional internal space has a nowhere vanishing spinor, which in turn implies that the internal space has an SU(3)-structure. The heterotic superpotential for a compactification on a manifold with an SU(3)-structure (X, Ω, ω) with vector bundle (V, A) (details of our notation are defined in appendix A) is [2, 12, 16, 24]

$$W = \int_X (H + i \mathrm{d}\omega) \wedge \Omega , \qquad (2.1)$$

where

$$H = H_0 + \frac{\alpha'}{4} (\omega_{CS}^A - \omega_{CS}^\nabla) , \qquad (2.2)$$

with $H_0 = dB$ for some local two-form potential B, and the Chern-Simons forms are

$$\omega_{CS}^A = \operatorname{tr}\left(A \wedge \mathrm{d}A + \frac{2}{3}\,A^3\right).$$

and similar for ω_{CS}^{∇} . Here ∇ is some spin-connection on the tangent bundle of X.¹

2.1 First order deformations

The supersymmetry conditions may be derived by considering the first order deformation of W. This gives the F-terms of the fields in the action of the low energy effective theory and therefore they must vanish. This has been previously discussed in, for example, [12, 14, 24], and the conditions derived are equivalent to the 10d supersymmetry conditions in [5].

Considering a first order deformation of W, eq. (2.1), the supersymmetry condition is

$$\delta W = \int_X \left(\frac{\alpha'}{2} \left(\operatorname{tr} \left(\delta A \wedge F \right) - \operatorname{tr} \left(\delta \Theta \wedge R \right) \right) + \mathrm{d}\tau \right) \wedge \Omega + \int_X (H + i \mathrm{d}\omega) \wedge \delta \Omega = 0 \,, \quad (2.3)$$

where F and R are the curvatures of A and ∇ respectively, Θ is the connection one-form of ∇ , and where we have defined

$$\tau = \delta B + i\delta\omega + \frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(\operatorname{tr} \left(\delta A \wedge A \right) - \operatorname{tr} \left(\delta \Theta \wedge \Theta \right) \right).$$
(2.4)

We may think of τ as a deformation of the complexified hermitian form, appropriately adjusted by the connection terms at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha')$.

The first two terms of equation (2.3) then tell us that supersymmetry requires

$$F \wedge \Omega = 0$$
, $R \wedge \Omega = 0$,

or equivalently $F^{(0,2)} = R^{(0,2)} = 0$ with respect to the (almost) complex structure determined by Ω . Hence, (V, A) and (TX, ∇) are holomorphic vector bundles. Furthermore, flux quantization requires that the harmonic part of $H_0 = dB$ cannot change infinitesimally. Hence

$$\delta H_0 = \mathrm{d}(\delta B)$$

must be d-exact. Integrating by parts the third term in eq. (2.3), we therefore get

$$d\Omega = 0$$

that is, Ω is a holomorphic three-form. It follows that the almost complex structure determined by Ω is integrable.

Finally, for the last term of eq. (2.3), we recall that

$$\delta\Omega = K\,\Omega + \chi$$

$$R_{mn}\gamma^{mn}\eta = 0$$

 $^{^{1}\}nabla$ is usually taken to be an instanton connection [25, 26],

where η is the six-dimensional spinor on X and R is the curvature of ∇ . We will not start with this assumption, but rather derive it from the superpotential and D-term potential.

where $\chi \in \Omega^{(2,1)}(X)$. Therefore,

$$(H + id\omega)^{(0,3)} = (H + id\omega)^{(1,2)} = 0$$

It follows that

$$H = i(\partial - \overline{\partial})\omega = d^c \omega .$$
(2.5)

In conclusion, we have found that the supersymmetry condition

 $\delta W=0$

requires that (X, Ω, ω) to be a complex manifold which admits a no-where vanishing holomorphic three-form Ω , and that the bundles (V, A) and (TX, ∇) are holomorphic vector bundles. Moreover, the three form flux H is required to be given by equation (2.5). Note also that these conditions imply that W = 0, implying that the vacuum is Minkowski. It is worth remarking at this point that the remaining constraints in the Strominger system (see appendix A), namely the conformally balanced condition and the Yang-Mills equations for the connections on End(V) and End(TX), are obtained from the vanishing of D-term superpotential as we will see later in section 4.2 and 5.

3 The moduli space

3.1 Second order deformations

We now consider the massless moduli degrees of freedom associated the superpotential eq. (2.1). The Hesse matrix can be found in e.g. [27], and at an extremum of the four-dimensional F-term potential it reads

$$V_{I\overline{J}} = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left(-R_{I\overline{J}K\overline{L}} \overline{F}^J F^{\overline{K}} + \mathcal{K}_{I\overline{J}} |F|^2 - F_I \overline{F}_{\overline{J}} + (D_I F_K) (\overline{D}_J \overline{F}^K) - 2\mathcal{K}_{I\overline{J}} |W|^2 \right).$$

Here I, J, \ldots denote generic moduli directions, \mathcal{K} is the Kähler potential for the Kähler metric on the heterotic moduli space, D_I are moduli space covariant derivatives, $F_I = D_I W$ are the F-terms, and $R_{I\overline{J}K\overline{L}}$ is the curvature of the Kähler metric $\mathcal{K}_{I\overline{J}}$. This metric can be computed [28], and is a rather complicated function of the moduli, and whose full expression will not be required for our purposes. We are only interested in an understanding of how some of the moduli become massive, but not on the explicit values of these masses. Concerning ourselves with supersymmetric Minkowski vacua, both the superpotential and the F-terms vanish ($W = \delta W = 0$), and the mass-matrix reduces to

$$V_{I\overline{J}} = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left(\partial_I \partial_K W\right) \left(\partial_{\overline{J}} \partial_{\overline{L}} \overline{W}\right) \mathcal{K}^{K\overline{L}} .$$

$$(3.1)$$

Working in a basis for moduli where the mass matrix is diagonal, it is easy to see that the modulus corresponding to the direction I is massless if and only if $\partial_I \partial_K W = 0$ for all K.

To find the moduli satisfying this condition we need to consider not only deformations that preserve supersymmetry, and so have a chance of being massless, but also deformations breaking supersymmetry, which although heavy can generate masses for some of the light moduli. Indeed, if $\delta_2 \delta_1 W$ is non-zero, where δ_2 preserves the supersymmetry conditions and δ_1 does not, then this will lead to a large mass for the naively supersymmetric modulus δ_2 . Physically, $\delta_2 \delta_1 W = \delta_2 (F_1)$, where F_1 is the F-term associated to δ_1 , so a potential is generated in the direction δ_2 if this does not vanish.² Of course, we will not worry about deformations where both δ_i are non-supersymmetric, as these are lifted out from the theory from the start. As discussed in the Introduction and [18], the result of these considerations is that the true moduli of the theory are a combination of complex structure, Kähler, and bundle deformations, which can be given in terms of a subspace of the original cohomologies. We will see how this works for the Strominger system including the anomaly cancellation condition in this section.

Let us begin by performing a second order deformation of W at the supersymmetric locus $W = \delta W = 0$. We take δ_1 to be a generic deformation while δ_2 is a deformation preserving supersymmetry, leading to the equation

$$\delta_{2}\delta_{1}W|_{0} = \int_{X} \mathrm{d}\tau_{1} \wedge \delta_{2}\Omega + \int_{X} \frac{\alpha'}{2} \left(\mathrm{tr} \left(\delta_{1}A \wedge \delta_{2}(F \wedge \Omega) \right) - \mathrm{tr} \left(\delta_{1}\Theta \wedge \delta_{2}(R \wedge \Omega) \right) \right) + \int_{X} \delta_{2}(H + i\mathrm{d}\omega) \wedge \delta_{1}\Omega + \int_{X} (H + i\mathrm{d}\omega) \wedge \delta_{2}\delta_{1}\Omega = 0 , \qquad (3.2)$$

where the zero in $\delta_2 \delta_1 W|_0$ denotes we are imposing the ten-dimensional supersymmetry conditions found in the previous section.

3.2 Holomorphic bundle deformations

Consider the first term of eq. (3.2). For generic τ_1 , this gives the condition

$$\mathrm{d}\delta_2\Omega = 0\,,\tag{3.3}$$

where, as before, $\delta_2\Omega = K_2\Omega + \chi_2$, for $\chi_2 \in \Omega^{(2,1)}(X)$, and K_2 can be taken to be a constant by modding out by diffeomorphisms of X. A nontrivial deformation of Ω then corresponds to an element

$$\chi_2 \in H^{(2,1)}(X) \cap \ker(\mathbf{d})$$

Recall that the existence of a well defined no-where vanishing (3,0) form Ω defines an isomorphism between the cohomologies

$$H^{(2,1)}(X) \cong H^{(0,1)}(TX)$$
,

where TX denotes the holomorphic tangent bundle. The elements $\Delta_2 \in H^{(0,1)}(TX)$ correspond to a non-trivial deformation of the complex structure J which preserve integrability, however they do not necessarily preserve the holomorphicity of Ω . Hence the allowed deformations of the complex structure χ_2 , are those for which there exists a d-closed representative in its the cohomology class in $H^{(2,1)}(X)$. This holds true for all cohomology classes whenever the $\partial\overline{\partial}$ -lemma is satisfied. To see this, consider

 $[\chi] \in H^{(2,1)}(X) \quad \Rightarrow \quad \overline{\partial} \partial \chi = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \partial \chi = \partial \overline{\partial} \beta$

 $^{^{2}}$ As discussed in [18] such heavy modes are never explicitly present in the 4d effective theory. We regard the agreement with rigorous 10d computations as a confirmation that this approach is consistent.

for some (2,0)-form β . The last implication follows from the $\partial\overline{\partial}$ -lemma. It follows that $\partial(\chi - \overline{\partial}\beta) = 0$, and $[\chi - \overline{\partial}\beta] = [\chi] \in H^{(2,1)}(X)$. In particular, this will be true whenever there exists a large volume $\alpha' \to 0$ compact Calabi-Yau limit, see appendix B. For brevity, we will refer to such examples as examples where X_0 is Calabi-Yau, where the subscript zero refers to the $\alpha' \to 0$ limit. A less restrictive, but still sufficient condition for which this holds is [20]

$$H^{(0,1)}(X) \cong H^{(0,2)}(X) = 0,$$
(3.4)

where the isomorphism is due to Serre-duality. We will assume that (3.4) is true for the spaces we consider, but we note that as shown in appendix B, this is true whenever X_0 is Calabi-Yau.

Next consider the second term in eq. (3.2). As $\delta_1 A$ is generic, it follows that we must require

$$\delta_2(F \wedge \Omega) = 0$$

From this it follows that

$$\Delta_2^a \wedge F_{a\bar{b}} \,\mathrm{d}z^b = \overline{\partial}_A \alpha_2 \,, \tag{3.5}$$

where $\alpha_2 = (\delta_2 A)^{(0,1)}$, and the operator $\overline{\partial}_A$ is defined by

$$\overline{\partial}_A \beta = \overline{\partial}\beta + A^{(0,1)} \wedge \beta - (-1)^p \beta \wedge A^{(0,1)} ,$$

for any *p*-form β , and where $A^{(0,1)}$ denotes the (0, 1) part of A. Note that $\overline{\partial}_A^2 = 0$. Eq. (3.5) can be equivalently restated as the condition that

$$\Delta_2^a \in \ker(\mathcal{F})$$
,

where the map

$$\mathcal{F} : H^{(p,q)}(TX) \to H^{(p,q+1)}(\operatorname{End}(V)) ,$$

is defined by contraction with F as in eq. (3.5)

$$\mathcal{F}(\Delta) = F_{a\overline{b}} \,\mathrm{d} z^{\overline{b}} \wedge \,\Delta^a \,\,.$$

We will show in a moment that by the Bianchi identity for \mathcal{F} , this map is indeed a map between cohomologies.

Similarly, the third term in the first line of eq. (3.2) gives the condition

$$\Delta_2^a \wedge R_{a\bar{b}} \,\mathrm{d}z^{\bar{b}} = \overline{\partial}_{\nabla} \kappa_2 \,, \tag{3.6}$$

where κ_2 is the (0,1)-part of the deformation of Θ . We also see that we need

$$\Delta^a \in \ker(\mathcal{R})$$

where the map

$$\mathcal{R} : H^{(p,q)}(TX) \to H^{(p,q+1)}(\operatorname{End}(TX))$$

is given by contraction with R as in eq. (3.6).

This discussion can also be given in terms of cohomologies, as first done by Atiyah [29] and applied to the heterotic case in [17, 18, 20, 21, 30]. We give here a brief summary. Consider the operator

$$\overline{\partial}_E = \overline{\partial}_{\tilde{\nabla}} + \mathcal{R} + \mathcal{F} : \quad \Omega^{(p,q)}(\mathbf{g} \oplus TX) \to \Omega^{(p,q+1)}(\mathbf{g} \oplus TX) ,$$

where $\mathbf{g} = \operatorname{End}(TX) \oplus \operatorname{End}(V)$ and $\overline{\partial}_{\tilde{\nabla}} = \overline{\partial}_{\mathbf{g}} + \overline{\partial}$ is a diagonal holomorphic connection on the bundle $\mathbf{g} \oplus TX$. To be clear about this notation, the operator $\overline{\partial}_E$, as a matrix acting on forms with values in $\mathbf{g} \oplus TX$, is defined as

$$\overline{\partial}_E = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{\partial}_{\nabla} & 0 & \mathcal{R} \\ 0 & \overline{\partial}_A & \mathcal{F} \\ 0 & 0 & \overline{\partial} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{\partial}_{\mathbf{g}} & \mathcal{R} + \mathcal{F} \\ 0 & \overline{\partial} \end{bmatrix}$$

A short computation reveals that the operator $\overline{\partial}_E$ satisfies

$$\overline{\partial}_E^2 = \overline{\partial}_{\overline{\nabla}}^2 + \overline{\partial}_{\nabla} \mathcal{R} + \mathcal{R}\overline{\partial} + \overline{\partial}_A \mathcal{F} + \mathcal{F}\overline{\partial} = 0 ,$$

the due to the Bianchi identities for F and R. Indeed it is easy to check that

$$\overline{\partial}_A \mathcal{F} + \mathcal{F} \overline{\partial} = \overline{\partial}_A F \,,$$

with a similar equation for the Bianchi identity of R. Note that \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{R} are then maps between cohomologies. The holomorphic connection $\overline{\partial}_E$ therefore defines the bundle E as a holomorphic extension bundle,

$$0 \to \mathbf{g} \to E \to TX \to 0. \tag{3.7}$$

Indeed, the holomorphic structure on the total space of a holomorphic bundle over a complex manifold, can always be encoded in such a holomorphic extension bundle E. We are interested in computing infinitesimal simultaneous deformations of the complex structure on X and the holomorphic structure on the bundles. Equivalently, we want to compute the infinitesimal deformations of $\overline{\partial}_E$. These are computed by the cohomology

$$T\mathcal{M}_{\overline{\partial}_{F}} = H^{(0,1)}(E) ,$$

which in turn can be computed by a long exact sequence in the cohomology of eq. (3.7), yielding³

$$H^{(0,1)}(E) = H^{(0,1)}(\operatorname{End}(TX)) \oplus H^{(0,1)}(\operatorname{End}(V)) \oplus \ker(\mathcal{R} + \mathcal{F}).$$
(3.8)

Note then that in order for $\overline{\partial}_E$ to remain holomorphic, thus preserving supersymmetry, we require $\Delta^a \in \ker(\mathcal{R} + \mathcal{F})$, which is precisely the requirement obtained from the superpotential above. Indeed, the infinitesimal moduli are now given by

$$x_2 = (\Delta_2^a, \alpha_2, \kappa_2) \in H^{(0,1)}(E)$$

satisfying the condition $\overline{\partial}_E x_2 = 0$.

³In the computation of eq. (3.8) we make the simplifying assumption that $H^0(TX) = 0$. This assumption is fine when X_0 is Calabi-Yau, see appendix B.

3.3 Anomaly deformations

We next consider the second line of eq. (3.2). Writing the first term out, we get

$$\int_X \delta_2(H + i \mathrm{d}\omega) \wedge \delta_1 \Omega = \int_X \left(\frac{\alpha'}{2} (\operatorname{tr} \alpha_2 \wedge F - \operatorname{tr} \kappa_2 \wedge R) + \mathrm{d}\tau_2 \right) \wedge \delta_1 \Omega \,.$$

The second term of the second line of eq. (3.2) is given by

$$\int_X (H + i \mathrm{d}\omega) \wedge \delta_2 \delta_1 \Omega = 2i \int_X \partial \omega \wedge \delta_2 \delta_1 \Omega \,.$$

Noting that $H + i \omega = 2 i \partial \omega$, it is clear that only the (1, 2)-part of $\delta_2 \delta_1 \Omega$ contributes

$$(\delta_2 \delta_1 \Omega)^{(1,2)} = \Delta_1^a \wedge \chi_{2ab\overline{c}} \, \mathrm{d} z^{b\overline{c}} = \Delta_1^a \wedge \Delta_2^b \, \Omega_{abc} \, \mathrm{d} x^c \, .$$

Using this, we can rewrite

$$2i \int_X \partial \omega \wedge \delta_2 \delta_1 \Omega = 2i \int_X \partial_{[a} \omega_{b]\overline{c}} \, \mathrm{d} z^{\overline{c}} \wedge \Delta_1^d \, \Omega_{def} \wedge \Delta_2^{[e} \wedge \mathrm{d} z^{f]ab}$$
$$= -2i \int_X \partial_{[a} \omega_{b]\overline{c}} \, \mathrm{d} z^{\overline{c}} \wedge \Delta_1^d \, \Omega_{def} \, \wedge \Delta_2^{[a} \wedge \mathrm{d} z^{b]ef}$$
$$= -4i \int_X \Delta_2^a \wedge \partial_{[a} \omega_{b]\overline{c}} \, \mathrm{d} z^{b\overline{c}} \wedge \chi_1 \,,$$

where in the second line we have used

$$0 = 2\,\Delta^{[e} \wedge \mathrm{d}z^{abf]} = \Delta^{[e} \wedge \mathrm{d}z^{f]ab} + \Delta^{[a} \wedge \mathrm{d}z^{b]ef} \; .$$

Putting it all together, and requiring $\delta_1 \Omega$ generic, we find that we need

$$\overline{\partial}\tau_2^{(0,2)} = 0$$
$$-4\Delta_2^a \wedge i\partial_{[a}\omega_{b]\overline{c}} \,\mathrm{d}z^{b\overline{c}} + \frac{\alpha'}{2} \big(\mathrm{tr} \left(\alpha_2 \wedge F\right) - \mathrm{tr} \left(\kappa_2 \wedge R\right) \big) + \partial\tau_2^{(0,2)} + \overline{\partial}\tau_2^{(1,1)} = 0 \,.$$

The first equation together with (3.4) imply that $\tau^{(0,2)}$ is $\overline{\partial}$ -exact, that is

$$\tau_2^{(0,2)} = \overline{\partial}\beta^{(0,1)},$$

for some (0,1)-form $\beta^{(0,1)}$. The second equation then gives the following condition

$$-4\Delta_2^a \wedge i\partial_{[a}\omega_{b]\overline{c}} \,\mathrm{d}z^{b\overline{c}} + \frac{\alpha'}{2} \left(\mathrm{tr} \left(\alpha_2 \wedge F \right) - \mathrm{tr} \left(\kappa_2 \wedge R \right) \right) + \overline{\partial}\tau_2^{(1,1)} - \overline{\partial}\partial\beta^{(0,1)} = 0 \,, \quad (3.9)$$

which can be rewritten as

$$-\mathcal{H}(x_2)_a \mathrm{d}z^a = \frac{1}{2}\overline{\partial} \left(\tau_2^{(1,1)} - \partial\beta^{(0,1)}\right) , \qquad (3.10)$$

where \mathcal{H} is the map defined by

$$\mathcal{H} = \hat{H} + \mathcal{F} + \mathcal{R} : \quad \Omega^{(p,q)}(E) \to \Omega^{(p,q+1)}(T^*X), \tag{3.11}$$

and

$$\mathcal{H}(x)_b = \Delta^a \wedge \hat{H}_{ab\bar{c}} \, \mathrm{d}z^{\bar{c}} - \frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(\mathrm{tr} \left(\alpha \wedge F_{b\bar{c}} \mathrm{d}z^{\bar{c}} \right) - \mathrm{tr} \left(\kappa \wedge R_{b\bar{c}} \mathrm{d}z^{\bar{c}} \right) \right),$$
$$\hat{H}_{ab\bar{c}} \, \mathrm{d}z^{\bar{c}} = 2i\partial_{[a}\omega_{b]\bar{c}} \, \mathrm{d}z^{\bar{c}} = H_{ab\bar{c}}^{(2,1)} \, \mathrm{d}z^{\bar{c}} \,.$$

We have extended the definition of the maps \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{R} to forms $x = (\kappa, \alpha, \Delta)$ with values in E. In fact, \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{R} are understood as acting on both TX-valued forms as before, and on **g**-valued forms by the trace on the endomorphism bundles. That is, we are extending the definition of these maps so that

$$\mathcal{F}_{b}(\alpha) = \frac{\alpha'}{4} \operatorname{tr}(F_{b\overline{c}} \, \mathrm{d}z^{\overline{c}} \wedge \alpha), \quad \alpha \in \Omega^{(p,q)}(\operatorname{End}(V)),$$
$$\mathcal{R}_{b}(\kappa) = -\frac{\alpha'}{4} \operatorname{tr}(R_{b\overline{c}} \, \mathrm{d}z^{\overline{c}} \wedge \kappa), \quad \kappa \in \Omega^{(p,q)}(\operatorname{End}(TX)).$$

Alternatively the pre-factors $\pm \frac{\alpha'}{4}$ could be pulled into a re-definition of the trace on **g**. Note the different sign of the action of \mathcal{R} relative to the action of \mathcal{F} . Altogether, these maps act as follows

$$\mathcal{F}(x) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{F}(\kappa) \\ \mathcal{F}_{a}(\alpha) \\ \mathcal{F}(\Delta) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \frac{\alpha'}{4} \operatorname{tr}(F_{a} \wedge \alpha) \\ \mathcal{F}_{a\bar{b}} \, \mathrm{d}x^{\bar{b}} \wedge \Delta^{a} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \mathcal{R}(x) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{R}_{a}(\kappa) \\ \mathcal{R}(\alpha) \\ \mathcal{R}(\Delta) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{\alpha'}{4} \operatorname{tr}(R_{a} \wedge \alpha) \\ 0 \\ R_{a\bar{b}} \, \mathrm{d}x^{\bar{b}} \wedge \Delta^{a} \end{bmatrix},$$

where $F_a = F_{a\bar{b}} dz^{\bar{b}}$ and $R_a = R_{a\bar{b}} dz^{\bar{b}}$. We will see below that the map \mathcal{H} is in fact a map between cohomologies. Hence, we see that the equation for moduli (3.10) for x_2 can be equivalently stated as

$$x_2 = \ker(\mathcal{H})$$
.

This of course is in agreement with what was found from the ten-dimensional supergravity perspective in [20, 21].

3.4 The map \mathcal{H} , and extending E by T^*X

As will be discussed in section 4, there is also an additional constraint coming from the requirement that the bundles involved satisfy the Yang-Mills condition

$$\omega^{mn} F_{mn} = 0$$
$$\omega^{mn} R_{mn} = 0$$

These constraints are manifest in the 4d theory as D-terms. These constraints also appear naturally when we consider the infinitesimal moduli space in terms of cohomologies, as shown in [20], and part of section 3.5 together with section 4 is a review of this nice result. In section 3.5 we also consider in more detail the map \mathcal{H} , and derive a theorem relating the number of complex structure and bundle moduli which are lifted.

The map \mathcal{H} defined in eq. (3.11) can be shown to give a well defined map in cohomology if and only if the Bianchi identity

$$dH = \frac{\alpha'}{4} (\operatorname{tr} F^2 - \operatorname{tr} R^2), \qquad (3.12)$$

is satisfied [20, 21]. This fact is equivalent to the map \mathcal{H} commuting with the respective cohomology operators

$$\overline{\partial}\mathcal{H} + \mathcal{H}\overline{\partial}_E = 0. \qquad (3.13)$$

In fact one obtains

$$\overline{\partial}(\mathcal{H}_b(x)) + \mathcal{H}_b\left(\overline{\partial}_E x\right) = -\frac{1}{4} \left(\mathrm{d}H - \frac{\alpha'}{4} (\mathrm{tr}F^2 - \mathrm{tr}R^2) \right)_{ab\overline{c}\overline{d}} \, \mathrm{d}z^{\overline{c}} \wedge \mathrm{d}z^{\overline{d}} \wedge \Delta^a \\ + \frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(\mathrm{tr}\left(\overline{\partial}_A(F_{b\overline{c}}\mathrm{d}z^{\overline{c}}) \wedge \alpha\right) - \mathrm{tr}\left(\overline{\partial}_\nabla(R_{b\overline{c}}\mathrm{d}z^{\overline{c}}) \wedge \kappa\right) \right),$$

where the first line vanishes due to the heterotic Bianchi identity (3.12), while the second line vanishes due to the Bianchi identities for the curvatures. As also observed in [21], we note that if we view the extension map as bundle-valued form $\mathcal{H} \in \Omega^{(0,1)}(E^* \otimes T^*X)$, then (3.13) implies that $\overline{\partial}_E \mathcal{H} = 0$. In other words, \mathcal{H} represents an element of the cohomology

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{1}(E, T^{*}X) = H^{(0,1)}(E^{*} \otimes T^{*}X),$$

which contains the allowed extension classes of E by T^*X . This particular extension group was computed in [21]. Note that extension classes differing by an exact element of $\operatorname{Ext}^1(E, T^*X)$ give rise to holomorphically equivalent extensions.

We remark that \mathcal{H} represents a *particular* extension class in $\operatorname{Ext}^1(E, T^*X)$. Indeed, let us consider the operator

$$\overline{D} = \overline{\partial}_{\tilde{\nabla}} + \mathcal{C} + \hat{H} : \quad \Omega^{(p,q)}(T^*X \oplus E) \to \Omega^{(p,q+1)}(T^*X \oplus E) ,$$

where we, for brevity, we have defined

$$\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{F} + \mathcal{R},$$

and $\overline{\partial}_{\widetilde{\nabla}}$ has been extended to a holomorphic diagonal connection on the bundle $T^*X \oplus \mathbf{g} \oplus TX$. Written out in matrix form, \overline{D} reads

$$\overline{D} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{\partial} & \mathcal{H} \\ 0 & \overline{\partial}_E \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{\partial} & \mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}} & \hat{H} \\ 0 & \overline{\partial}_{\mathbf{g}} & \mathcal{C}_{TX} \\ 0 & 0 & \overline{\partial} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (3.14)$$

which acts on forms with values in (T^*X, \mathbf{g}, TX) , and where, as before, $\overline{\partial}_{\mathbf{g}}$ is the holomorphic connection on the bundle \mathbf{g} . Unless it is clear from the context, we will also denote the map \mathcal{C} as C_{TX} or $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}$ depending on whether it acts on tangent bundle or bundle valued forms respectively. Note that \mathcal{C}_{TX} corresponds to the original Atiyah map.

We now compute \overline{D}^2 which gives

$$\overline{D}^{2} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{\partial}^{2} & \overline{\partial} C_{\mathbf{g}} + C_{\mathbf{g}} \overline{\partial}_{\mathbf{g}} & \overline{\partial} \hat{H} + \hat{H} \overline{\partial} + C_{\mathbf{g}} \wedge C_{TX} \\ 0 & \overline{\partial}_{\mathbf{g}}^{2} & \overline{\partial}_{\mathbf{g}} C_{TX} + C_{TX} \overline{\partial} \\ 0 & 0 & \overline{\partial}^{2} \end{bmatrix},$$

which again vanishes using $\hat{H} = H^{(2,1)}$, the Bianchi identity on the curvature of **g**, and the Bianchi Identity (3.12). In particular,

$$\overline{\partial}\hat{H} + \hat{H}\overline{\partial} + \mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}} \wedge \mathcal{C}_{TX} = \mathrm{d}H - \frac{\alpha'}{4}\left(\mathrm{tr}F^2 - \mathrm{tr}R^2\right) = 0 \;.$$

The operator \overline{D} defines the holomorphic bundle \mathcal{Q} as an extension

$$0 \to T^*X \to \mathcal{Q} \to E \to 0 ,$$

with extension class \mathcal{H} .

We have just seen that the Bianchi identity is responsible for the choice of a particular extension class \mathcal{H} . Furthermore, looking at eq. (3.14), we see that we can equivalently define \mathcal{Q} by first extending **g** by T^*X with extension class $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}$,

$$0 \to T^* X \to \tilde{E} \to \mathbf{g} \to 0$$
.

Note that this is precisely the bundle $\tilde{E} = E^*$. We then extend TX by this bundle to get

$$0 \to E^* \to \mathcal{Q} \to TX \to 0 ,$$

with extension class again given by \mathcal{H} . Note that this is precisely the construction of \mathcal{Q}^* . It follows that the extension class \mathcal{H} is chosen so to make \mathcal{Q} self-dual as a holomorphic bundle. This can also be seen from the definition (3.14) of the holomorphic operator \overline{D} . It is simply the observation that the maps \mathcal{C}_{TX} and $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}$ are given by the same class as elements of the extension group $\operatorname{Ext}^1(T^*X, \mathbf{g}) = \operatorname{Ext}^1(\mathbf{g}, TX) = H^{(0,1)}(T^*X \otimes \mathbf{g}).$

3.5 On deformations of \overline{D} and ker(\mathcal{H})

We now consider infinitesimal deformations of \overline{D} , and compare to what was found by deforming the superpotential. This calculation was done in [20, 21], and we quote the results here. It is important to remark that for infinitesimal deformations we do not need to worry about spoiling the self-duality condition, as this is a condition on the extension classes $\{C, \mathcal{H}\}$, whose cohomology classes do not change under infinitesimal deformations. The infinitesimal moduli space of \overline{D} is given by

$$T\mathcal{M}_{\overline{D}} = H^{(0,1)}(\mathcal{Q}) = \left(H^{(0,1)}(T^*X) / \operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{F})\right) \oplus \ker(\mathcal{H}), \qquad (3.15)$$

where ker $(\mathcal{H}) \subseteq H^{(0,1)}(\mathcal{Q}_1)$. As expected, this includes the kernel structure which we previously derived from superpotential deformations, that is $x_2 \in \text{ker}(\mathcal{H})$. The $H^{(0,1)}(T^*X)$ -part may be interpreted as hermitian moduli, that is $\overline{\partial}$ -closed forms we can add to $\tau_2^{(1,1)}$ without changing eq. (3.9). We refer to these as $\tau_0^{(1,1)}$ so that

$$\overline{\partial}\tau_0^{(1,1)} = 0, \quad \Rightarrow \quad \tau_0^{(1,1)} \in H^{(1,1)}(X) \cong H^{(0,1)}(TX).$$
 (3.16)

The reader may wonder if it is appropriate to mod out by $\overline{\partial}$ -exact forms in order to arrive at hermitian moduli valued in the Dolbeault cohomology $H^{(1,1)}(X)$. Moreover, in the final result, the hermitian moduli are also quotiented by $\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{F})$. In section 4 we will see why this cohomology is correct upon considering the appropriate symmetries of the system. We will also see how the quotient by $\text{Im}(\mathcal{F})$ appears when we look at preservation of the Yang-Mills condition and the Green-Schwarz Mechanism [32].

Before we move to discuss symmetries and D-terms, it is instructive to investigate the kernel structure of \mathcal{H} a bit further. Let

$$x_t = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma_t \\ \Delta_t \end{bmatrix} \in \Omega^{(0,1)}(E), \quad \text{and} \quad y_t \in \Omega^{(0,1)}(T^*X),$$

where $\gamma_t \in \Omega^{(0,1)}(\mathbf{g})$ and $\Delta_t \in \Omega^{(0,1)}(TX)$. Then the equations for the moduli of the Strominger system are

$$\partial y_t = -\mathcal{H}(x_t)$$

 $\overline{\partial}_E x_t = 0$.

The variable t denotes a generic infinitesimal deformation. We let $t = \{a, b, \ldots\}$, $t = \{i, j, \ldots\}$ or $t = \{x, y, \ldots\}$ depending on if it corresponds to a complex structure, bundle, or hermitian modulus respectively. It should be clear from the context if an index a corresponds to a complex structure modulus or a holomorphic index.

Suppose that t is a deformation which is not a deformation of the hermitian structure, that is, it is a parameter of the holomorphic structure on E. In particular, these equations split as

$$\overline{\partial}y_a = -\mathcal{H}(x_a) = -\hat{H}(\Delta_a) - \mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}(\gamma_a) = -\mathcal{H}_{\Delta}(x_a), \qquad (3.17)$$

$$\overline{\partial}y_i = -\mathcal{H}(x_i) = -\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}(\gamma_i), \qquad (3.18)$$

where $\Delta_a \in \ker \mathcal{C}$ and $\gamma_i \in H^{(0,1)}(\mathbf{g})$. The first equation depends only on the complex structure moduli Δ_a (hence the label \mathcal{H}_{Δ}). This is easy to see by recalling that the γ_a are uniquely determined by the Δ_a from

$$\overline{\partial}_{\mathbf{g}}\gamma_a = -\mathcal{C}(\Delta_a)$$

In fact, there is an ambiguity in obtaining γ from this equation, which is that we can add to it a $\overline{\partial}_{\mathbf{g}}$ -closed part. However these correspond to bundle moduli already accounted for in those elements in $H^{(0,1)}(\mathbf{g})$.

In any case, the first equation represents a further lifting of the complex structure moduli so that the extra lifted complex structure parameters live in

$$L_{\Delta} = \ker(\mathcal{C}_{TX}) \setminus \ker(\mathcal{H}_{\Delta})$$

where $\ker(\mathcal{C}_{TX}) \setminus \ker(\mathcal{H}_{\Delta})$ denotes the subtraction of $\ker(\mathcal{C}_{TX})$ by $\ker(\mathcal{H}_{\Delta})$. The second is a lifting of the bundle moduli so that the lifted bundle moduli live in

$$L_{\gamma} = H^{(0,1)}(\mathbf{g}) \setminus \ker(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}})$$

The y_a and y_i are the necessary deformations of the complexified hermitian structure due to a change of the holomorphic structure on Q so that the deformed bundle Q is holomorphic, and the ambiguity of a $\overline{\partial}$ -closed form in each case corresponds to moduli already counted in $H^{(0,1)}(T^*X)$.

We now prove an interesting theorem for the number of lifted moduli.

Theorem 1. The number of complex structure moduli lifted by C_{TX} equals the number of bundle moduli lifted by C_{g} . In other words,

$$\dim(\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{C}_{TX})) = \dim(\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{C}_{g})) .$$

Proof. Suppose that we consider $\gamma_i \in H^{(0,1)}(\mathbf{g})$ and $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}(\gamma_i) \in \text{Im}(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}})$. We can think of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}(\gamma_i)$ as a (1,2)-form on X (instead of a (0,2) with values in the holomorphic cotangent bundle). Let $\chi \in H^{(2,1)}(X)$ and consider the integral

$$\int_X \mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}(\gamma_i) \wedge \chi \; .$$

We claim

$$(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}(\gamma_i), *\overline{\chi}) = \int_X \mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}(\gamma_i) \wedge \chi = 0, \quad \forall \ \chi \in H^{(2,1)}(X) \qquad \Longleftrightarrow \qquad \gamma_i \in \ker(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}) \ .$$

Indeed, if $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}(\gamma_i) = \overline{\partial} y_i$ then, by integration by parts, the integral vanishes for every $\chi \in H^{(2,1)}(X)$. On the other hand if the integral vanishes for every $\chi \in H^{(2,1)}(X)$ then, as $\overline{\partial} \mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}(\gamma_i) = -\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}(\overline{\partial}_{\mathbf{g}}(\gamma_i)) = 0$, and as $\{*\overline{\chi}\}$ spans $\mathcal{H}^{(1,2)}(X)$ for $\chi \in \mathcal{H}^{(2,1)}(X)$, it must be the case that $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}(\gamma_i)$ is $\overline{\partial}$ -exact. Here $\mathcal{H}^{(*,*)}(X)$ denotes harmonic forms. Consequently, for $\gamma_i \notin \ker(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}})$, there exists a $\chi \in H^{(2,1)}(X)$ such that

$$\int_X \mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}(\gamma_i) \wedge \chi \neq 0 \; .$$

But for this integral to vanish it must be the case that $F \wedge \chi$ or equivalently $\mathcal{F}(\Delta)$ is nontrivial in cohomology. Here $\Delta \in H^{(0,1)}(TX)$ is the complex structure modulus corresponding to χ . This proves that for every bundle modulus lifted by $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}$, there is at least one complex structure modulus lifted by \mathcal{C}_{TX} . Another way to state this result is to say that

$$\dim(\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{C}_{TX})) \ge \dim(\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}))$$

where we have used the isomorphisms

$$H^{(0,1)}(TX) \setminus \ker(\mathcal{C}_{TX}) \simeq \operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{C}_{TX}), \qquad H^{(0,1)}(\mathbf{g}) \setminus \ker(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}) \simeq \operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}).$$

Similarly, by considering the claim

$$\int_X \mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}(\gamma) \wedge \chi_a = 0, \quad \forall \ \gamma \in H^{(0,1)}(\mathbf{g}) \qquad \Longleftrightarrow \qquad \Delta_a \in \ker(\mathcal{C}_{TX}).$$

for $\chi_a \in H^{(2,1)}(X)$ corresponding to Δ_a , one can prove that

$$\dim(\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{C}_{TX})) \leq \dim(\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}})) \; .$$

We conclude that

$$\dim(\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{C}_{TX})) = \dim(\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}})),$$

or equivalently that

$$L_{\gamma} \simeq H^{(0,1)}(TX) \setminus \ker(\mathcal{C}_{TX})$$

As an aside we note that for a given lifted complex structure modulus $\Delta \in H^{(0,1)}(TX)$, the corresponding bundle modulus $\gamma \in H^{(0,1)}(\mathbf{g})$ is given by the Serre dual of

$$\mathcal{C}(\Delta) \in H^{(0,2)}(\mathbf{g})$$

where Serre-duality is given by the holomorphic three-form Ω . It should also be noted that the self-duality of \mathcal{Q} is important for the theorem to hold, which is easy to see as this implies that \mathcal{C}_{TX} and \mathcal{C}_{g} are given by the same curvature terms.

We should bear in mind that as the right hand side of equation (3.17), which depends only on the variations Δ_a of the complex structure, this equation represents a further lifting of the complex structure moduli. We also note that even in the Calabi-Yau case, where $\hat{H} = 0$ (when $\alpha' = 0$), this map need not be non-trivial, and so may lead to lifting extra complex structure moduli not lifted by the Atiyah map C_{TX} . We will return to this in more detail later in the paper. I particular when discussing obstructions in section 6.

4 Symmetries, D-terms and the Green-Schwarz mechanism

Up until now we have been assuming that if a modulus is closed with respect to some holomorphic operator, then the true modulus corresponds to an element of the cohomology given by the holomorphic operator. This is true for the complex structure and bundle moduli, but we are not yet justified in claiming that the complexified Kähler moduli given by (3.16) take values in $H^{(0,1)}(T^*X)$. We begin this section by showing that this is indeed the case.

4.1 Symmetries of the Hermitian moduli

Let us first consider the imaginary part of the hermitian moduli $\tau_0^{(1,1)}$ given by the (1, 1)part of the deformation of the hermitian form $(\delta_0 \omega)^{(1,1)}$. Assume that

$$\overline{\partial}((\delta_0\omega)^{(1,1)}) = 0.$$

As we shall see below in section 4.2, the manifold X is also required to be conformally balanced,

$$d\left(e^{-2\phi}\omega\wedge\omega\right) = d\left(\hat{\omega}\wedge\hat{\omega}\right) = 0, \qquad (4.1)$$

where $\hat{\omega} = e^{-\phi}\omega$ is referred to as the Gauduchon hermitian form. A straightforward but somewhat tedious computation now shows that the preservation of the conformally balanced condition (4.1) requires that [20, 31]

$$\overline{\partial}^{\tilde{\dagger}}\left((\delta_{0}\omega)^{(1,1)}\right) = \overline{\partial}^{\tilde{\dagger}}\left(\omega\,\delta_{0}\phi + \partial^{\tilde{\dagger}}\Lambda_{0}^{(2,1)}\right)\,,\tag{4.2}$$

where the adjoints are taken with respect to the metric $\tilde{g} = e^{-2\phi}g$. This also uses the fact that for a generic deformation of the hermitian form

$$\delta\hat{\omega}_0 = \lambda_0\,\hat{\omega} + \hat{h}_0\,,$$

where the two-form \hat{h}_0 is primitive and λ_0 is a function. On a conformally balanced manifold X, is an easy exercise left to the reader to show that, using diffeomorphisms, λ_0 can in fact be set to a constant. Note that since we assume that

$$H^{(2,0)}(X) \cong H^0(TX) = 0$$

where the isomorphism is given by Ω , it follows by the Hodge decomposition of $\hat{h}_0^{(2,0)}$ that

$$\hat{h}_0^{(2,0)} = \overline{\partial}^{\dagger} \Lambda_0^{(2,1)}$$

This equation defines the (2, 1)-form Λ_0 . As $\hat{h}_0^{(2,0)}$ is determined by the deformation of the complex structure, then so is $\Lambda_0^{(2,1)}$. It therefore follows from (4.2) that the $\overline{\partial}$ -exact part of $(\delta_0 \omega)^{(1,1)}$ is determined by the deformations of the complex structure and dilaton. We are therefore correct to mod out by $\overline{\partial}$ -exact forms for the imaginary part of the complexified hermitian moduli (3.16) corresponding to deformations of the hermitian form $(\delta_0 \omega)^{(1,1)}$.

Next we turn to the real part of the complexified hermitian modulus $\tau_0^{(1,1)}$. We first compute a generic symmetry transformation of the real part of the two-form τ_2

$$\delta\left(\operatorname{Re}(\tau_2)\right) = \mathrm{d}\lambda - \frac{\alpha'}{2}\left(\operatorname{tr} F\epsilon_1 - \operatorname{tr} R\epsilon_2\right) + \frac{\alpha'}{4}\mathrm{d}\left(\operatorname{tr} A\epsilon_1 - \operatorname{tr} \Theta\epsilon_2\right) \,, \tag{4.3}$$

where $d\lambda$ is an exact form corresponding to the allowed infinitesimal re-parametrisations of the *B*-field, while ϵ_1 and ϵ_2 correspond to infinitesimal gauge-transformations of *A* and Θ respectively. Note that in computing (4.3) we also need to consider deformations coming from the gauge-transformation of the *B*-field, required by the Green-Schwarz mechanism [32]

$$\delta B = -\frac{\alpha'}{4} \left(\operatorname{tr} \left(\mathrm{d}A\epsilon_1 \right) - \operatorname{tr} \left(\mathrm{d}\Theta\epsilon_2 \right) \right).$$

At this point, we are not concerned with transformations changing the holomorphic structures on the bundles, so we assume that $\overline{\partial}_A \epsilon_1 = \overline{\partial}_{\nabla} \epsilon_2 = 0$. The tangent bundle $\operatorname{End}(TX)$ is assumed to be irreducible. As we will see in the next section and in section 5, $\operatorname{End}(TX)$ is also required to be a stable bundle, while $\operatorname{End}(V)$ is poly-stable. It follows that $\overline{\partial}_{\nabla} \epsilon_2 = 0$ implies that $\epsilon_2 = 0$. Moreover, for a poly-stable bundle $V = \bigoplus_i V_i$ we may assume that

$$\epsilon_1 = \sum_i c_i I_i \; ,$$

where the I_i 's are identity matrices and the $c_i \in \mathbb{C}$ are chosen so that tr $\epsilon_1 = 0$. For such gauge transformations, (4.3) reduces to

$$\delta\left(\operatorname{Re}(\tau_2)\right) = \mathrm{d}\lambda - \frac{\alpha'}{4} \sum_i c_i \operatorname{tr} F_i , \qquad (4.4)$$

where F_i are the curvatures of the individual bundles V_i . Consider the first term of the right hand side of (4.4). The last term will be discussed below. The (1, 1)-part of the first term reads

$$d\lambda^{(1,1)} = \overline{\partial}\lambda^{(1,0)} + \partial\lambda^{(0,1)}$$

We hence see that the symmetries we should mod out by when considering the real part of the hermitian moduli $(\operatorname{Re}(\tau_0))^{(1,1)}$ also includes $\overline{\partial}$ -exact forms. One might worry about the ∂ -exact terms in the above expression. That is, could there be $\overline{\partial}$ -closed ∂ -exact terms in our hermitian moduli that should not be considered as they are part of the symmetries we mod out by? The answer to this is no. To see why, let $u \in \Omega^{(0,1)}(X)$ and assume that u satisfies

$$\overline{\partial}\partial u = 0$$

Then $\overline{\partial}u$ will define an element of

$$H^{(0,2)}_{\partial}(X) \cong H^{(2,0)}_{\overline{\partial}}(X) = 0 \,,$$

It follows that $\overline{\partial}v = u$ for some function v. But since we are also assuming that $H^{(0,1)}(X) = 0$, it follows that $u = \overline{\partial}f$ for some function f, and hence ∂u is $\overline{\partial}$ -exact and therefore not part of the hermitian moduli. Hence we are correct in viewing the complexified hermitian moduli as elements of $H^{(0,1)}(T^*X)$.

Note also that we should mod out the hermitian moduli in (3.15) by the image of \mathcal{F} , which we did not see from varying the superpotential. It should be noted that this quotient is a natural part of the gauge-structure of \mathcal{Q} , whereby modding out by \overline{D} -exact terms means modding out by terms of the form

$$\overline{D}z = (\overline{\partial}b + \mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}(\epsilon) + \hat{H}(\delta), \ \overline{\partial}_{\mathbf{g}}\epsilon + \mathcal{C}_{TX}(\delta), \ \overline{\partial}\delta),$$
(4.5)

where $z = (b, \epsilon, \delta) \in \Omega^0(\mathcal{Q})$, that is $b \in H^0(T^*X)$, $\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2 = \epsilon \in H^0(\mathbf{g})$ and $\delta \in H^0(TX)$. Note then that $\overline{\partial}\delta$ corresponds to trivial deformations of the complex structure, and we may set $\overline{\partial}\delta = 0$ without loss of generality. Since $H^0(TX) \cong H^{2,0}(X) = 0$ this implies that $\delta = 0$. Furthermore, $\overline{\partial}_{\mathbf{g}}\epsilon$ corresponds to trivial deformations of the holomorphic vector bundles. Setting $\overline{\partial}_{\nabla}\epsilon = 0$ then implies $\epsilon_{\nabla} = 0$ as we saw above. However, $\overline{\partial}_{\mathbf{g}}\epsilon_A = 0$ does not imply $\epsilon_A = 0$, as V is only poly-stable in general. In this case, eq. (4.5) requires that we should mod out by the image of \mathcal{F} , as the elements in $\mathrm{Im}(\mathcal{F})$ precisely correspond to gauge transformations of this kind. This quotient is also understood for the real part of the complexified hermitian moduli by the gauge transformation of τ_2 and the *B*-field, giving rise to the second term on the right hand side of (4.4). For the imaginary part of the hermitian moduli, it can be understood as preserving the preserving the Yang-Mills condition of A [20]. Moreover, it is related to D-term conditions in the four-dimensional theory which we discuss next.

4.2 Yang-Mills equations and D-terms

In this section we discuss the Yang-Mills equations in the ten-dimensional supergravity theory and their relation to D-terms in the effective four-dimensional theory. In the ten-dimensional theory, in order for the supersymmetric variation of the gaugino fields to vanish, the gauge bundle should be holomorphic with a Yang-Mills connection

$$g^{a\bar{b}}F_{a\bar{b}} = 0. \tag{4.6}$$

The SU(3)-structure of a heterotic compactification guarantees that the compactification admits a balanced Gauduchon metric, $\hat{g} = e^{-\phi}g$ where

$$d(\hat{\omega} \wedge \hat{\omega}) = 0. \tag{4.7}$$

With respect to this metric, the slope for a vector bundle E on X is defined as

$$\mu(E) = \frac{1}{\operatorname{rk}(E)} \int_{X} c_1(E) \wedge \hat{\omega}^2 \,. \tag{4.8}$$

Recall that the gauge-connection A is holomorphic. We will further require the gauge connection A to be hermitian. It was shown in [33–36] that the existence of a hermitian Yang-Mills connection is equivalent to demanding that the bundle is *poly-stable*. A bundle V_i is stable if

$$\mu\left(E\right) < \mu\left(V_i\right),\tag{4.9}$$

for all sub-sheaves E of V_i . Further, a bundle that can be written as a direct sum

$$V = \oplus_i V_i , \qquad (4.10)$$

is poly-stable if each V_i is stable with the same slope $\mu(V_i) = \mu(V)$. The slope vanishes for the total bundle V in the case of heterotic string compactifications because the structure group of V is contained in $E_8 \times E_8$.

We now discuss how the conformally balanced constraint (4.7) on the hermitian form appears from the *D*-terms of the effective theory. In the four-dimensional theory, we conjecture that there is a D-term potential of the form

$$V_D \sim \sum_i \mu(V_i)^2.$$
 (4.11)

Demanding that this vanishes of course leads back to the zero-slope condition. Such a potential is exactly of the same form as it appears in Calabi-Yau compactifications, where it can be derived from the term

$$\alpha' \int_{\mathcal{M}_{10}} \sqrt{-g} \operatorname{tr} \left[(g^{MN} F_{MN})^2 \right] \in S_{10} ,$$

in the ten-dimensional action [19, 37, 38] (the indices M, N in this equation are tendimensional indices). It is reasonable to expect a similar potential in the torsional case, modified only by the definition of the slope. We note first that this term produces a potential which vanishes iff

$$\omega \lrcorner F = 0, \qquad (4.12)$$

when we take the four-dimensional space-time is Minkowski. Further, we will shortly see that the potential (4.11) precisely forces the hermitian moduli to be orthogonal to F_i , as derived above and in [20].

The moduli are obtained from the fluctuations around eq. (4.11). Considering the massmatrix for V_D for the bundle V and finding the second order deformation as before we have

$$\delta_1 \delta_2 V_D \sim \sum_i \delta_1 \left(\mu(V_i) \right) \delta_2 \left(\mu(V_i) \right) \,.$$

Therefore the massless modes satisfy

$$\delta(\mu(V_i)) = 0 , \quad \forall i ,$$

leading to

$$\int_X \mathrm{d}(\operatorname{tr} \delta A_i) \wedge \hat{\omega} \wedge \hat{\omega} + 2 \int_X \operatorname{tr} F_i \wedge \hat{\omega} \wedge \delta \hat{\omega} = 0, \quad \forall i.$$

The first of these terms will generate a potential unless

 $d(\hat{\omega} \wedge \hat{\omega}) = 0,$

which is the conformally balanced condition. The second term generates a potential unless

 $(\operatorname{tr} F_i, \delta \hat{\omega}) = 0.$

In [20] it was shown from a ten-dimensional perspective that this is exactly the same condition required on the imaginary part of the compexified hermitian moduli, $\delta \hat{\omega}$, in order to preserve the Yang-Mills condition (4.12). This then also explains also why the imaginary part should be modded out by Im(\mathcal{F}), completing our understanding of why this quotient appears in (3.15).

It should be noted that if we allow deformations of the bundle away from the locus where the bundle is a direct sum of the form eq. (4.10), referred to as a stability wall in the hermitian moduli space, the D-term potential eq. (4.11) would need to be amended to account for such deformations. The details of this was worked out in [37, 38], and we do not expect it to change significantly in the torsional case. For a bundle which is close to polystability the slope may be roughly expanded as

$$\mu(V) = \sum_{i} \mu(E_i) + C_i^2,$$

where the E_i 's are sub-sheaves of V and C_i refers to deformations away from polystability, that is, "matter" fields in the effective theory. This allows sub-sheaves of negative slope in general. However, away from the poly-stable locus there can be no obstructions for the hermitian moduli from the D-terms as we saw above. These bundle configurations are hence less interesting from a moduli stabilization point of view.

5 On the End(TX)-valued connection

For completeness, we also note that we expect a similar D-term like term to appear for the End(TX)-valued connection ∇ . Indeed, the ten-dimensional action has a term

$$\alpha' \int_{M_{10}} e^{-2\phi} \operatorname{tr} \left(g^{MN} R_{MN} \right)^2, \qquad (5.1)$$

which for a Minkowski space-time vacuum means that

$$\omega \lrcorner R = 0. \tag{5.2}$$

Recall that ∇ is also required to be holomorphic by $\delta W = 0$. From (5.2) we see that ∇ is also required to satisfy the Yang-Mills condition. That ∇ should be Yang-Mills has also been pointed out in e.g. [25, 26]. Until now, we have taken ∇ to be a generic holomorphic Yang-Mills connection on End(TX). It is however known that this connection should depend on the other fields in some particular way [39–47]. Moreover, the deformations κ_2 of this connection correspond to $\mathcal{O}(\alpha')$ field-redefinitions of the other fields [23].

With the usual field choice, the connection should be the Hull connection to $\mathcal{O}(\alpha')$ in order to have a supersymmetry invariant theory [39, 40]

$$\nabla = \nabla^{-} + \mathcal{O}(\alpha') = \nabla^{LC} - \frac{1}{2}H + \mathcal{O}(\alpha'), \qquad (5.3)$$

where the reduction in orders of α' on the right hand side is due to that the connection always appears with an extra factor of α' . Here ∇^{LC} is the Levi-Civita connection. This connection also satisfies the supersymmetry conditions to first order, but not to higher orders [23, 25].⁴

As we are working consistently to $\mathcal{O}(\alpha')$ in this paper, we may set $\nabla = \nabla^-$. Actually, for compact solutions it is well known that the flux H is of $\mathcal{O}(\alpha')$ [48], see also appendix A. It follows that we can choose

$$\nabla = \nabla^{LC} + \mathcal{O}(\alpha') \,.$$

Note also that to the given order in α' we can assume that ∇ is hermitian. This follows since at zeroth order in α' the internal torsion vanishes, and the Levi-Civita connection equals the Chern connection. In particular, by the theorem of Li and Yau [36] it follows that the bundle End(TX) is stable.

Moreover, as R is type (1,1) by construction at this order, it follows that $\Delta_2 \in \ker(\mathcal{R})$ for all Δ_2 . In other words,

$$\ker(\mathcal{R}) = H^{(0,1)}(TX) ,$$

and \mathcal{R} is the zero map as part of the Atiyah map \mathcal{C}_{TX} . By a similar argument as in Theorem 1 it also follows that \mathcal{R} is also trivial as part of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}$. We thus see that none of the infinitesimal field redefinitions, corresponding to elements of $H^{(0,1)}(\text{End}(TX))$, are lifted. Moreover, the condition to be in ker(\mathcal{H}) becomes a condition on the true moduli (Δ_2, α_2). Also, to the given order the Yang-Mills condition (5.2) is now automatically satisfied, since this is just the Ricci-flatness condition for the zeroth order Kähler geometry. D-terms related to this connection of the form (5.1) can therefore be ignored.

$$R_{mn}\gamma^{mn}\eta = 0 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha'^2)$$

Note that this is not true in general for ∇^- at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha')$ [23, 25].

⁴It should be mentioned that it was shown in [23] that the supersymmetry conditions remain the same to $\mathcal{O}(\alpha'^2)$, provided ∇ is taken to be an instanton connection at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha')$. That is,

We hence see that with the standard field choice (5.3) to the order we are working at the End(TX)-moduli effectively factor out of the story. The \mathcal{R} -part of the maps \mathcal{C}_{TX} and $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}}$ is trivial and cannot lift complex structure moduli or deformations of ∇ respectively. As mentioned, non-trivial deformations of this connection correspond to field redefinitions away from the usual field choice [23]. For mathematical rigor, we shall continue to carry the End(TX)-moduli with us for the remainder of the paper, but it should be kept in mind that these moduli are redundant from a physics point of view. Note also that there is still an \mathcal{R} -part in the definition of \mathcal{H}_{Δ} given in (3.17) which cannot be ignored a priori.

6 Yukawa couplings and obstructions

Having seen how the infinitesimal deformations work, at least up to second order in deformations of the superpotential, it is interesting to consider higher order deformations of the theory. Generically, it is known that not all infinitesimal deformations can be integrated to finite deformations. The barriers to doing so are known as *obstructions* in the mathematics literature. For a holomorphic structure \overline{D} , the condition for the deformations to be unobstructed is that they are in the kernel of the obstruction map

$$\kappa : H^{(0,1)}(\mathcal{Q}) \to H^{(0,2)}(Q) ,$$

often also referred to as the Kuranishi map [49–51]. The true moduli of the theory are thus the ones in the kernel of this map, while deformations not in this kernel will be obstructed. These obstructions are known to correspond to higher order Yukawa couplings in the fourdimensional effective theory [52]. To show exactly how this works requires us to do higher order deformations of the superpotential eq. (2.1), and show how these Yukawa couplings correspond to obstructions in the deformation theory of \overline{D} . This is quite involved and we leave the full treatment for future work, see however [53, 54]. Instead we only investigate a couple of features of the obstructions here, in particular for compactifications where X_0 is Calabi-Yau. It should also be noted that obstructions and their correspondence to Yukawa couplings have been considered at length in the literature before, see e. g. [17, 52, 55–57].

In terms of holomorphic structures defined by an extension sequence, it can be shown that the obstruction maps in the corresponding long exact sequence commute with the other induced maps in cohomology [17, 54, 58]

$$\dots \to H^{0}(E) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{H}_{0}} H^{(0,1)}(T^{*}X) \to H^{(0,1)}(\mathcal{Q}) \to H^{(0,1)}(E)$$

$$\downarrow \kappa_{T^{*}X} \qquad \downarrow \kappa \qquad \downarrow \kappa_{E} \qquad (6.1)$$

$$\xrightarrow{\mathcal{H}} H^{(0,2)}(T^{*}X) \to H^{(0,2)}(\mathcal{Q}) \xrightarrow{\rho} H^{(0,2)}(E) \to 0,$$

where the last zero follows from the slope-zero stability of T^*X . The obstruction map κ_E can further be sandwiched between obstruction maps of the bundle and base as

$$0 \to H^{(0,1)}(\operatorname{End}(TX)) \oplus H^{(0,1)}(\operatorname{End}(V)) \to H^{(0,1)}(E) \to H^{(0,1)}(TX)$$

$$\downarrow \kappa_{\operatorname{End}(TX)} \qquad \downarrow \kappa_{\operatorname{End}(V)} \qquad \downarrow \kappa_E \qquad \downarrow \kappa_{TX} \qquad (6.2)$$

$$\xrightarrow{\mathcal{F}+\mathcal{R}} H^{(0,2)}(\operatorname{End}(TX)) \oplus H^{(0,2)}(\operatorname{End}(V)) \xrightarrow{\rho_E} H^{(0,2)}(E) \to H^{(0,2)}(TX) \to \dots,$$

where we have named the map ρ_E as it will appear in the following computations.

6.1 Obstructions for Calabi-Yau compactifications

In order to say more about the obstructions, it is perhaps most enlightening to consider reasonably explicit examples of compactifications, where more is known about the individual obstruction maps. For example, if we assume that

$$\kappa_{TX} = \kappa_{T^*X} = \kappa_{\text{End}(TX)} = 0.$$
(6.3)

This holds true for Calabi-Yau compactifications, where we also use the field choice described in section 5 where the End(TX)-connection is taken to be the Levi-Civita connection. As will be argued at the end of this section, we believe that (6.3) holds true for cases where X_0 is Calabi-Yau as well. Recall also that in this field choice we have $\mathcal{R}_{TX} = \mathcal{R}_g = 0$, leading to

$$\mathcal{C}_{TX} = \mathcal{F}_{TX}$$

 $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}} = \mathcal{F}_{g}$.

It should be noted that the computation in the next paragraph leading to eq. (6.4) was first carried out in [17], but we repeat it here for completeness.

It follows from a diagram chase of (6.2) that

$$\dim \left(\ker(\kappa_E) \right) = h^{(0,1)}(E) - \dim \left(\operatorname{Im}(\kappa_E) \right) = h^{(0,1)}(E) - \dim \left(\operatorname{Im}(\rho_{\operatorname{End}(V)} \kappa_{\operatorname{End}(V)}) \right) ,$$

where $\rho_{\text{End}(V)}$ is ρ_E restricted to $H^{(0,1)}(\text{End}(V))$, and we denote by h the dimension of the corresponding cohomologies. It follows that

$$\dim (\ker(\kappa_E)) \ge h^{(0,1)}(E) - \dim \left(\operatorname{Im}(\rho_{\operatorname{End}(V)}) \right) = h^{(0,1)}(E) - h^{(0,2)}(\operatorname{End}(V)) + \dim \left(\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{F}) \right) = h^{(0,1)}(\operatorname{End}(TX)) + h^{(0,1)}(\operatorname{End}(V)) + h^{(0,1)}(TX) - h^{(0,2)}(\operatorname{End}(V)) = h^{(0,1)}(\operatorname{End}(TX)) + h^{(0,1)}(TX) ,$$

$$(6.4)$$

where in the last equality we have used that $h^{(0,1)}(\operatorname{End}(V)) = h^{(0,2)}(\operatorname{End}(V))$ by Serre duality. Notice that the moduli $h^{(0,1)}(\operatorname{End}(TX))$ corresponding to the field redefinitions are unobstructed.

Next, consider the full obstruction map κ in (6.1) for compactifications where (6.3) applies, and in particular Calabi-Yau compactifications. As $\kappa_{T^*X} = 0$, it follows that any nontrivial element of $\text{Im}(\kappa)$ must have a nontrivial image in $H^{(0,2)}(E)$ under ρ corresponding to a non-trivial image of κ_E . It follows that

$$\dim (\ker(\kappa)) = h^{(0,1)}(\mathcal{Q}) - \dim (\operatorname{Im}(\kappa)) \ge h^{(0,1)}(\mathcal{Q}) - \dim (\operatorname{Im}(\kappa_E))$$
$$= h^{(0,1)}(T^*X) - \dim (\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{H}_0)) + \dim (\ker(\kappa_E)) - \dim (\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{H}))$$
$$\ge h^{(0,1)}(T^*X) - \dim (\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{H}_0)) + h^{(0,1)}(\operatorname{End}(TX)) + h^{(0,1)}(TX) - \dim (\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{H})) .$$

Recall that

$$\dim (\mathrm{Im}(\mathcal{H})) = \dim (\mathrm{Im}(\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}})) + \dim (\mathrm{Im}(\mathcal{H}_{\Delta})) = \dim (\mathrm{Im}(\mathcal{F}_{TX})) + \dim (\mathrm{Im}(\mathcal{H}_{\Delta})) ,$$

where we have used Theorem 1 and the fact that $\text{Im}(\mathcal{C}_{TX}) = \text{Im}(\mathcal{F}_{TX})$ in this field choice. It follows that

$$\dim \left(\ker(\kappa) \right) - h^{(0,1)}(\operatorname{End}(TX)) \ge h^{(0,1)}(T^*X) - \dim \left(\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{H}_0) \right) + \dim \left(\ker(\mathcal{H}_\Delta) \right) .$$
(6.5)

This shows that the number of true moduli in such compactifications, given by the left hand side of (6.5), will always be greater or equal to the number of original Kähler and complex structure moduli of the base, not lifted by the procedure outlined in the previous sections. That is, the *massless moduli* of the base. They need not correspond to complex structure or Kähler moduli anymore though, as they may have been replaced by unobstructed bundle moduli. We also note that we always carry with us the moduli corresponding to field redefinitions, which are counted by $h^{(0,1)}(\text{End}(TX))$. Modulo such field redefinitions, they can be ignored.

It should again be stressed that the above calculation only holds for cases where (6.3) is true. In particular for Calabi-Yau compactifications. We believe that the result also holds for more general compactifications, in particular for compactifications where X_0 is Calabi-Yau. Indeed, compactifications with a zeroth order compact Calabi-Yau geometry satisfy the $\partial \overline{\partial}$ -lemma as shown appendix B, and which is enough for κ_{TX} to vanish [59]. As we also argue in appendix B, the Hodge-diamond of X for such compactifications is not affected by α' -corrections. In particular, the infinitesimal Kähler moduli space is given by

$$H_{\overline{\partial}}^{(1,1)}(X) = H_{\overline{\partial}}^{(1,1)}(X_0) \,.$$

Hence the Kähler moduli are counted by the Kähler moduli of the zeroth order base, which are unobstructed. Finally, the infinitesimal deformations of the zeroth order tangent bundle $H^{(0,1)}(\text{End}(TX_0))$ of a Calabi-Yau are also unobstructed. These also correspond to the deformations of the connection $\nabla = \nabla^{LC} + \mathcal{O}(\alpha')$ in the usual field choice. These arguments suggest that (6.3) holds true also for cases where X_0 is Calabi-Yau. They are however somewhat hand-wavy and remain to be confirmed with more mathematical rigor. This is a subject of further study.

7 Calabi-Yau compactifications, and surjective and injective maps

Having discussed the moduli space, it is instructive to consider some examples. The first, and perhaps simplest, case to consider are Calabi-Yau compactifications, as discussed above when we considered the obstructions. One might expect that there is not much more to say for such examples then what is already known. There are however a couple of important points we wish to emphasize, related to the inclusion of the Bianchi identity in the moduli story. First note that in these examples there is of course no torsion, i.e. $\hat{H} = 0$, but that does not mean that the \mathcal{H} -map is trivial. Indeed, as we saw with Theorem 1, the number of bundle moduli lifted by $C_{\mathbf{g}}$ is the same as the number of complex structure moduli lifted by the original Atiyah map \mathcal{C}_{TX} . Moreover, even tough the torsional part of \mathcal{H}_{Δ} vanishes this does not a priori guarantee that \mathcal{H}_{Δ} is trivial, and this can lead to additional stabilization of complex structure moduli. We use the standard field choice of section 5 in this section, so

$$\mathcal{C}_{TX} = \mathcal{F}_{TX} : H^{(0,1)}(TX) \to H^{(0,2)}(\operatorname{End}(V))$$
$$\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{g}} = \mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{g}} : H^{(0,1)}(\operatorname{End}(V)) \to H^{(0,2)}(T^*X) .$$

The standard embedding. Let us consider the simplest example of a Calabi-Yau compactification, namely the standard embedding. In this example, we are at the locus where we identify the gauge connection A with the tangent bundle connection ∇ . This is often referred to as the (2, 2)-locus from a sigma model perspective.

At the standard embedding locus, we have F = R, which given the discussion in section 5, shows that $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{H} = 0$. One might think that it is only the \mathcal{F}_{g} -map that vanishes in this case, but it turns out that \mathcal{H}_{Δ} is trivial in this case as well. Indeed, as the curvatures are the same, we find for a complex structure Δ_a that $\kappa_a = \alpha_a$, which gives

$$\mathcal{H}_{\Delta}(\Delta_a) = 0 \quad \forall \ \Delta \in H^{(0,1)}(TX) ,$$

and so $\mathcal{H}_{\Delta} = 0$ as well. This means that the corresponding long exact sequences in cohomology split into short exact sequences, so that

$$H^{(0,1)}(\mathcal{Q}) = H^{(0,1)}(T^*X) \oplus H^{(0,1)}(E) = H^{(0,1)}(T^*X) \oplus H^{(0,1)}(TX) \oplus H^{(0,1)}(\mathbf{g}) .$$

Furthermore, the obstructions are given by $Im(\kappa)$, whose dimension in this case is given by

$$\dim (\mathrm{Im}(\kappa)) = \dim (\mathrm{Im}(\kappa_E)) = \dim (\mathrm{Im}(\kappa_{\mathrm{End}(V)})) .$$

In other words, the moduli of the base remain unobstructed, while there are potential obstructions to the bundle moduli. This case has been examined in great detail the literature before, and the reader is referred to e.g. [52, 55, 56] and references therein for more details.

A surjective Atiyah map. Next, we consider cases where the Atiyah map \mathcal{F}_{TX} is surjective. Restricting ourselves to the physical bundle moduli, by Theorem 1 the map $\mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{g}}$ then becomes injective. Note that this also holds outside of the Calabi-Yau locus. We thus see that in such cases, all bundle moduli are lifted. Examples of this kind with a surjective \mathcal{F}_{TX} can be found in e.g. [18]. Indeed, in section 5 of [18] an explicit example of a bundle V is constructed, where the number of lifted complex structure moduli equals the dimension of $H^{(0,2)}(\text{End}(V))$, implying that \mathcal{F}_{TX} is surjective. Including the Bianchi identity, it follows that \mathcal{H}_2 is injective, which means that all bundle moduli corresponding to End(V) are lifted in this case.

It should however be noted that this need not have an effect on the physical matter spectrum. Indeed, the authors of [18] suggest to use the hidden E_8 -bundle to stabilize complex structure moduli in more phenomenology oriented models. In this case one only lifts bundle moduli corresponding to deformations of the hidden bundle, and hence the physical spectrum important for phenomenology is unaffected.

Stabilising complex structure moduli and an injective Atiyah map. For completeness, we also consider what happens in examples where the Atiyah map \mathcal{F}_{TX} is injective. It is clear that in such examples all complex structure moduli will get lifted, and they are hence of great phenomenological value. See e.g. [17, 19] for examples and developments on this front. It should also be noted that, given Theorem 1, one can equivalently look for example where the map \mathcal{F}_{g} is surjective. Moreover, the map \mathcal{H}_{Δ} can potentially lift additional complex structure moduli should the Atiyah map not be injective.

8 Discussion and conclusions

In this paper we have studied the infinitesimal moduli space of heterotic string compactifications from the perspective of the 4d theory. By considering F-terms we have shown that some 'would-be' moduli are actually heavy and removed from the effective theory. A further restriction of the moduli space occurs from D-terms, and combined with the F-term conditions we have shown that our results are equivalent to those previously obtained from the 10d theory. We have also reviewed how this may be phrased in terms of maps on coholomogies and continued the study of these maps. Finally, we have briefly considered Yukawa couplings in such theories, and considered some examples.

Of course, an enormous amount of work remains before such torsional compactifications are fully understood and potentially able to lead to fully realistic low energy phenomenology. An obvious omission is our present lack of knowledge of the Kähler potential, although this is the subject of current work [28]. It may be hoped that, given the holomorphic structures discussed, the Kähler potential will take a fairly simple and elegant form. Indeed, holomorphic structures usually come equipped with some form of Weil-Peterson metric on their moduli space, and one can speculate that the Kähler metric one obtains upon dimensional reduction corresponds to such a metric. However, for this present time this remains an open question. The story with Yukawa couplings is also far from complete. In particular, the connection between higher order deformations of the superpotential and obstructions has not yet been made explicit and it would be interesting to see how the details of this emerge. Knowledge of the Yukawa couplings is also very important for phenomenological purposes as well.

It would also be very interesting to study explicit examples of compactifications with torsion. Compactifications where a large volume Calabi-Yau locus exists are fairly easy to construct once the zeroth order Kähler geometry is known, and it would be interesting to investigate further what effects (if any) the α' -generated torsion has for lifting further moduli. Studying examples where no zeroth order limit exist is more challenging. Examples of this kind found in the literature [60, 61] have been shown to negate some of the assumptions we make. In particular $H^{(0,1)}(X) \neq 0$ [62]. It is hence less clear if $H^{(0,1)}(Q)$ counts the true moduli for these types of compactifications, but it can be taken as a conjecture. See also [22] for more details on this. In the longer term, it may even be hoped that there is the possibility of constructing examples with all moduli either removed from the low energy theory, or otherwise stabilised with phenomenologically acceptable masses. Investigations of other aspects of the low energy phenomenology, e.g. the number of Standard Model generations, exotic matter present, etc. may also be possible and interesting.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Lara Anderson, Mario García-Fernández, James Gray, Dan Israel, Spiro Karigiannis, Magdalena Larfors, Andre Lukas and Daniel Plencner for useful discussions. EES is supported by the ILP LABEX (under reference ANR-10-LABX-63), and by French state funds managed by the ANR within the Investissements dAvenir program under reference ANR-11-IDEX-0004-02. XD's research is supported in part by the EPSRC grant BKRWDM00.

A Compactifications and SU(3)-structure

In this appendix, we review some results concerning SU(3)-structure manifolds and string compactifications. The ten-dimensional geometry is assumed to have the form of a warped direct product,

$$M_{10} = M_4 \times X_6,$$

where M_4 is four-dimensional space-time, and X_6 is the compact internal space. We will use small roman indices $\{m, n, \ldots\}$ to denote real indices on X_6 , and greek indices to denote indices on M_4 whenever needed. The ten-dimensional supercharge given by the Majorana-Weil spinor ϵ decomposes as

$$\epsilon = \rho \otimes \eta,$$

where ρ is a four-dimensional space-time spinor and η is a spinor on X_6 . The spinor η defines an SU(3)-structure, with the non-degenerate two-form ω and nowhere vanishing well defined three-form Ψ on X_6 given by

$$\omega_{mn} = -i\eta^{\dagger}\gamma_{mn}\eta_{\dagger}$$
$$\Psi_{mnp} = \eta^{T}\gamma_{mnp}\eta,$$

where γ_m are the gamma matrices that satisfy the Clifford algebra in six dimensions, and $\gamma_{m_1m_2...m_p}$ denotes the totally antisymmetric product of p gamma matrices. These forms satisfy the usual SU(3)-structure identities

$$\omega \wedge \Psi = 0, \quad \frac{i}{||\Psi||^2} \Psi \wedge \overline{\Psi} = \frac{1}{6} \omega \wedge \omega \wedge \omega.$$

The three-form Ψ defines an almost complex structure J on X_6 by

$$J_m{}^n = \frac{I_m{}^n}{\sqrt{-\frac{1}{6}\mathrm{tr}I^2}},\tag{A.1}$$

where the tangent bundle endomorphism I is given by

$$I_m{}^n = (\mathrm{Re}\Psi)_{mpq} (\mathrm{Re}\Psi)_{rst} \epsilon^{npqrst}.$$

The normalization in (A.1) is needed so that $J^2 = -1$. Note also that the complex structure J is independent of rescalings of Ψ .

SU(3)-structures

A general SU(3)-structure has five torsion classes, $(W_0, W_1^{\omega}, W_1^{\Psi}, W_2, W_3)$, where [63–66]

$$d\omega = -\frac{12}{||\Psi||^2} \operatorname{Im}(W_0 \overline{\Psi}) + W_1^{\omega} \wedge \omega + W_3$$
$$d\Psi = W_0 \,\omega \wedge \omega + W_2 \wedge \omega + \overline{W}_1^{\Psi} \wedge \Psi \,.$$

Here W_0 is a complex function, W_2 is a primitive (1, 1)-form, W_3 is a real primitive threeform of type (1, 2) + (2, 1), W_1^{ω} is a real one-form, and W_1^{Ψ} is a (1, 0)-form. The one forms W_1^{ω} and W_1^{Ψ} are known as the Lee-forms of ω and Ψ respectively, and they are given by

$$\begin{split} W_1^{\omega} &= \frac{1}{2} \omega \lrcorner \mathrm{d} \omega \\ W_1^{\Psi} &= \frac{1}{||\Psi||^2} \Psi \lrcorner \mathrm{d} \overline{\Psi}. \end{split}$$

It should be noted that $W_2 = W_0 = 0$ is equivalent to the vanishing of the Nijenhaus tensor, and therefore equivalent to X_6 being complex. Note also that under a rescaling $\Psi \to \lambda \Psi$ which leaves the complex structure invariant, $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$, the lee-forms and W_3 remain invariant, while

$$W_0 \to \lambda W_0, \quad W_2 \to \lambda W_2.$$

Interestingly, it is only the torsion classes which spoil integrability of the complex structure that scale with λ .

The Strominger system

Let us recall the six-dimensional equations that should be solved in order to have a supersymmetric solution to the equations of motion up to first order in α' ,

$$d(e^{-2\phi}\Psi) = d\Omega = 0 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha'^2)$$
(A.2)

$$d(e^{-2\phi}\omega\wedge\omega) = 0 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha'^2) \tag{A.3}$$

$$e^{2\phi} * d(e^{-2\phi}\omega) = i(\partial - \overline{\partial})\omega = H + \mathcal{O}(\alpha'^2)$$
(A.4)

$$\omega \lrcorner F = 0 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha'), \qquad \Omega \land F = 0 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha') \tag{A.5}$$

$$\omega \lrcorner R = 0 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha'), \qquad \Omega \land R = 0 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha'), \qquad (A.6)$$

where $\Omega = e^{-2\phi}\Psi$. Note the reduction of the order of α' in the last two equations due to the fact that these curvature terms only appear at first order. in the geometry. This set of equations together with the Bianchi Identity

$$dH = \frac{\alpha'}{4} (\operatorname{tr} F \wedge F - \operatorname{tr} R \wedge R) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha'^2),$$

is commonly referred to as the Strominger system. If X is compact, then a simple application of Stokes theorem shows that the flux H is of order α' or smaller [66]

$$||e^{-\phi}H||^2 = \int_X e^{-2\phi}H \wedge *H = -\int_X H \wedge d(e^{-2\phi}\omega) = \mathcal{O}(\alpha'),$$

as $dH = \mathcal{O}(\alpha')$. If we exclude non-integer orders of α' , it follows that $H = \mathcal{O}(\alpha')$, and also $d\phi = \mathcal{O}(\alpha')$ leaving us with $d\omega = \mathcal{O}(\alpha')$ and a Calabi-Yau geometry at zeroth order.

B The α' -expansion and the Strominger system

In this appendix, we comment on the α' -expansion of heterotic supergravity. It should be mentioned that studies of heterotic supergravity in terms of the α' -expansion have been carried out before, see in particular [67] and e.g. [68, 69]. Moreover, it should be stressed that the types of geometries discussed here are only a subset of the geometries for which the main results of the paper applies. In particular, the geometries discussed in this appendix all have a large volume, $\alpha' \to 0$ Calabi-Yau limit which is smooth and compact.

Note first that the α' -expansion is really an expansion in terms of the dimensionless parameter

 $\beta = \alpha' / [\operatorname{Vol}(X_6)]^{\frac{1}{3}},$

where we assume a large volume, and thus that the supergravity limit is valid, but we'll mostly suppress this in the following. We also stress the philosophy adopted in this expansion, that α' -corrections are small. In particular, we are assuming a well-defined topology zeroth order in α' , and that the α' -corrections can only change the geometry which we assume to be smooth at each order in α' . Corrections can then be computed order by order using the lower order geometry. This assumption excludes examples of the kind found by Dasgupta et al. [60], later expanded upon by Yau et al. [61], as these geometries are highly singular in the $\alpha' \rightarrow 0$ limit. It should however be stressed that within these solutions it is hard to find a large-volume limit and the supergravity approximation is perhaps less applicable in this sense [16, 47]. Hence, the α' -expansion scheme does not cover all solutions to heterotic supergravity, only the large volume regime.

The various fields in the theory have an α' expansion. For a generic field Φ we have

$$\Phi = \Phi_0 + \alpha' \Phi_1 + \cdots .$$

The zeroth order geometry when $\alpha' \to 0$ is denoted by X_0 . We assume that this geometry is smooth and compact, and as we will see below this implies that the geometry is Calabi-Yau. We also mention that we do not expand the complex structure. That is, a complex structure can be defined on X without any reference to a metric, and thus no inherent size associated to it so that

$$J = J_0$$
.

This simplifies our lives, as it means the holomorphic structures do not need an α' expansion. In particular, ∂ and $\overline{\partial}$ are not have α' corrections. In addition, clearly if a
form is of type (n, m) at zeroth order, it remains so at higher orders. That is, the Hodgetype is preserved by the expansion. We also note that since the complex structure is
size-independent, we expect the geometry to remain complex at higher orders in α' . A
complex geometry is equivalent to

$$\overline{\partial}^2 = 0,$$

and as this equation receives no corrections, it will remain true to all orders. From this, we conjecture that higher perturbative α' -corrections will respect a complex base. Of course, this can be spoiled by non-perturbative corrections, but we do not consider these in the current paper.

Finally, we collect some useful facts about geometries where the large volume limit is a compact Calabi-Yau. In particular, recall that a sufficient condition for a complex manifold (X, J) to satisfy the $\partial\overline{\partial}$ -lemma is the existence of a Kähler form compatible with J. Since the complex structure does not change under α' -corrections, and since there must exist a Kähler form ω_0 corresponding to the zeroth order Calabi-Yau geometry X_0 , it follows that the corrected geometry X satisfies the $\partial\overline{\partial}$ -lemma. Moreover, as the Dolbeault operator $\overline{\partial}$ remains unchanged under α' -corrections, we can conclude that the Hodge-diamond of X does not change either. Indeed, as the Dolbeault cohomologies of a Calabi-Yau manifold are topological, and as we have seen X admits a Kähler metric, any change to this at higher orders in α' implies topological changes of X which contradicts the assumptions of the α' -expansion. Note that a similar statement need not hold for bundle valued cohomologies, as the connections on the given bundles can potentially receive corrections, and the bundles need no longer be holomorphic in general.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- P. Candelas, G.T. Horowitz, A. Strominger and E. Witten, Vacuum configurations for superstrings, Nucl. Phys. B 258 (1985) 46 [INSPIRE].
- [2] S. Gurrieri, A. Lukas and A. Micu, *Heterotic on half-flat*, *Phys. Rev.* D 70 (2004) 126009
 [hep-th/0408121] [INSPIRE].
- [3] S. Gurrieri, A. Lukas and A. Micu, Heterotic string compactifications on half-flat manifolds. II., JHEP 12 (2007) 081 [arXiv:0709.1932] [INSPIRE].
- [4] M. Klaput, A. Lukas, C. Matti and E.E. Svanes, Moduli stabilising in heterotic nearly Kähler compactifications, JHEP 01 (2013) 015 [arXiv:1210.5933] [INSPIRE].
- [5] A. Strominger, Superstrings with torsion, Nucl. Phys. B 274 (1986) 253 [INSPIRE].
- [6] C.M. Hull, σ model β-functions and string compactifications, Nucl. Phys. B 267 (1986) 266 [INSPIRE].
- [7] C.M. Hull, Compactifications of the heterotic superstring, Phys. Lett. B 178 (1986) 357 [INSPIRE].
- [8] B. de Wit, D.J. Smit and N.D. Hari Dass, Residual supersymmetry of compactified D = 10 supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 283 (1987) 165 [INSPIRE].
- [9] E. Bergshoeff and M. de Roo, Supersymmetric Chern-Simons terms in ten-dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 218 (1989) 210 [INSPIRE].
- [10] E.A. Bergshoeff and M. de Roo, The quartic effective action of the heterotic string and supersymmetry, Nucl. Phys. B 328 (1989) 439 [INSPIRE].
- [11] D. Lüst, Compactification of ten-dimensional superstring theories over Ricci flat coset spaces, Nucl. Phys. B 276 (1986) 220 [INSPIRE].
- [12] K. Becker, M. Becker, K. Dasgupta and P.S. Green, Compactifications of heterotic theory on non-Kähler complex manifolds. 1, JHEP 04 (2003) 007 [hep-th/0301161] [INSPIRE].

- K. Becker, M. Becker, P.S. Green, K. Dasgupta and E. Sharpe, Compactifications of heterotic strings on non-Kähler complex manifolds. 2, Nucl. Phys. B 678 (2004) 19 [hep-th/0310058]
 [INSPIRE].
- [14] K. Becker and L.-S. Tseng, Heterotic flux compactifications and their moduli, Nucl. Phys. B 741 (2006) 162 [hep-th/0509131] [INSPIRE].
- [15] M. Becker, L.-S. Tseng and S.-T. Yau, Moduli space of torsional manifolds, Nucl. Phys. B 786 (2007) 119 [hep-th/0612290] [INSPIRE].
- [16] K. Becker, M. Becker, K. Dasgupta and S. Prokushkin, Properties of heterotic vacua from superpotentials, Nucl. Phys. B 666 (2003) 144 [hep-th/0304001] [INSPIRE].
- [17] L.B. Anderson, J. Gray, A. Lukas and B. Ovrut, The Atiyah class and complex structure stabilization in heterotic Calabi-Yau compactifications, JHEP 10 (2011) 032
 [arXiv:1107.5076] [INSPIRE].
- [18] L.B. Anderson, J. Gray, A. Lukas and B. Ovrut, Stabilizing the complex structure in heterotic Calabi-Yau vacua, JHEP 02 (2011) 088 [arXiv:1010.0255] [INSPIRE].
- [19] L.B. Anderson, J. Gray, A. Lukas and B. Ovrut, Stabilizing all geometric moduli in heterotic Calabi-Yau vacua, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 106011 [arXiv:1102.0011] [INSPIRE].
- [20] X. de la Ossa and E.E. Svanes, Holomorphic bundles and the moduli space of N = 1supersymmetric heterotic compactifications, JHEP **10** (2014) 123 [arXiv:1402.1725] [INSPIRE].
- [21] L.B. Anderson, J. Gray and E. Sharpe, Algebroids, heterotic moduli spaces and the Strominger system, JHEP 07 (2014) 037 [arXiv:1402.1532] [INSPIRE].
- [22] M. Garcia-Fernandez, R. Rubio and C. Tipler, Infinitesimal moduli for the Strominger system and generalized Killing spinors, arXiv:1503.07562 [INSPIRE].
- [23] X. de la Ossa and E.E. Svanes, Connections, field redefinitions and heterotic supergravity, JHEP 12 (2014) 008 [arXiv:1409.3347] [INSPIRE].
- [24] G. Lopes Cardoso, G. Curio, G. Dall'Agata and D. Lüst, BPS action and superpotential for heterotic string compactifications with fluxes, JHEP 10 (2003) 004 [hep-th/0306088]
 [INSPIRE].
- [25] S. Ivanov, Heterotic supersymmetry, anomaly cancellation and equations of motion, Phys. Lett. B 685 (2010) 190 [arXiv:0908.2927] [INSPIRE].
- [26] D. Martelli and J. Sparks, Non-Kähler heterotic rotations, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 15 (2011) 131 [arXiv:1010.4031] [INSPIRE].
- [27] F. Denef and M.R. Douglas, Distributions of nonsupersymmetric flux vacua, JHEP 03 (2005) 061 [hep-th/0411183] [INSPIRE].
- [28] X. de la Ossa, P. Candelas and J. McOrist, *The Kähler metric for the heterotic string*, in progress.
- [29] M.F. Atiyah, Complex analytic connections in fibre bundles, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 85 (1957) 181.
- [30] L.B. Anderson, J. Gray, A. Lukas and B. Ovrut, Vacuum varieties, holomorphic bundles and complex structure stabilization in heterotic theories, JHEP 07 (2013) 017 [arXiv:1304.2704] [INSPIRE].

- [31] E.E. Svanes, Moduli in general SU(3)-structure heterotic compactifications, arXiv:1411.6696 [INSPIRE].
- [32] M.B. Green and J.H. Schwarz, Anomaly cancellation in supersymmetric D = 10 gauge theory and superstring theory, Phys. Lett. B 149 (1984) 117 [INSPIRE].
- [33] S.K. Donaldson, Anti self-dual Yang-Mills connections over complex algebraic surfaces and stable vector bundles, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. 50 (1985) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [34] K. Uhlenbeck and S.-T. Yau, On the existence of Hermitian-Yang-Mills connections in stable vector bundles, Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 39 (1986) S257.
- [35] N.P. Buchdahl, Hermitian-Einstein connections and stable vector bundles over compact complex surfaces, Math. Ann. 280 (1988) 625.
- [36] J. Li and S.-T. Yau, Hermitian-Yang-Mills connection on non-Kähler manifolds, in Mathematical aspects of string theory (San Diego CA U.S.A. 1986), Adv. Ser. Math. Phys. 1, World Sci. Publishing, Singapore (1987), pg. 560.
- [37] L.B. Anderson, J. Gray, A. Lukas and B. Ovrut, Stability walls in heterotic theories, JHEP 09 (2009) 026 [arXiv:0905.1748] [INSPIRE].
- [38] L.B. Anderson, J. Gray, A. Lukas and B. Ovrut, The edge of supersymmetry: stability walls in heterotic theory, Phys. Lett. B 677 (2009) 190 [arXiv:0903.5088] [INSPIRE].
- [39] C.M. Hull and P.K. Townsend, World sheet supersymmetry and anomaly cancellation in the heterotic string, Phys. Lett. B 178 (1986) 187 [INSPIRE].
- [40] A. Sen, (2,0) supersymmetry and space-time supersymmetry in the heterotic string theory, Nucl. Phys. B 278 (1986) 289 [INSPIRE].
- [41] P.S. Howe and G. Papadopoulos, Anomalies in two-dimensional supersymmetric nonlinear σ models, Class. Quant. Grav. 4 (1987) 1749 [INSPIRE].
- [42] I.V. Melnikov, R. Minasian and S. Theisen, Heterotic flux backgrounds and their IIA duals, JHEP 07 (2014) 023 [arXiv:1206.1417] [INSPIRE].
- [43] I.V. Melnikov, C. Quigley, S. Sethi and M. Stern, Target spaces from chiral gauge theories, JHEP 02 (2013) 111 [arXiv:1212.1212] [INSPIRE].
- [44] C.M. Hull, Anomalies, ambiguities and superstrings, Phys. Lett. B 167 (1986) 51 [INSPIRE].
- [45] C.M. Hull, Compactifications of the heterotic superstring, Phys. Lett. B 178 (1986) 357 [INSPIRE].
- [46] K. Becker and S. Sethi, Torsional heterotic geometries, Nucl. Phys. B 820 (2009) 1 [arXiv:0903.3769] [INSPIRE].
- [47] I.V. Melnikov, R. Minasian and S. Sethi, *Heterotic fluxes and supersymmetry*, JHEP 06 (2014) 174 [arXiv:1403.4298] [INSPIRE].
- [48] J.P. Gauntlett, N. Kim, D. Martelli and D. Waldram, Five-branes wrapped on SLAG three cycles and related geometry, JHEP 11 (2001) 018 [hep-th/0110034] [INSPIRE].
- [49] M. Kuranishi, Deformations of compact complex manifolds, Presses de l'Univ., Montréal Canada (1971).
- [50] S. Kobayashi, Differential geometry of complex vector bundles, Princeton University Press, Princeton U.S.A. (2014).

- [51] K. Kodaira, Complex manifolds and deformation of complex structures, Springer Science & Business Media 283, Springer Germany (2004).
- [52] P. Berglund, P. Candelas, X. de la Ossa, E. Derrick, J. Distler and T. Hubsch, On the instanton contributions to the masses and couplings of E₆ singlets, Nucl. Phys. B 454 (1995) 127 [hep-th/9505164] [INSPIRE].
- [53] M. Garcia-Fernandez, R. Rubio and C. Tipler, Infinitesimal moduli for the Strominger system and generalized Killing spinors, arXiv:1503.07562 [INSPIRE].
- [54] X. de la Ossa, M. Garcia-Fernandez and E.E. Svanes, *Heterotic algebroids, branes and deformations*, in progress.
- [55] M.B. Green, J.H. Schwarz and E. Witten, *Superstring theory: volume 2, loop amplitudes, anomalies and phenomenology*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K. (2012).
- [56] J. Polchinski, String theory. Vol. 2: superstring theory and beyond, (1998).
- [57] L.B. Anderson, J. Gray, D. Grayson, Y.-H. He and A. Lukas, Yukawa couplings in heterotic compactification, Commun. Math. Phys. 297 (2010) 95 [arXiv:0904.2186] [INSPIRE].
- [58] D. Huybrechts, The tangent bundle of a Calabi-Yau manifold-deformations and restriction to rational curves, Commun. Math. Phys. 171 (1995) 139.
- [59] G. Tian, Smoothness of the universal deformation space of compact Calabi-Yau manifolds and its Petersson-Weil metric, in Mathematical aspects of string theory (San Diego CA U.S.A. 1986), Adv. Ser. Math. Phys. 1, World Sci. Publishing, Singapore (1987), pg. 629.
- [60] K. Dasgupta, G. Rajesh and S. Sethi, M theory, orientifolds and G-flux, JHEP 08 (1999) 023 [hep-th/9908088] [INSPIRE].
- [61] K. Becker, M. Becker, J.-X. Fu, L.-S. Tseng and S.-T. Yau, Anomaly cancellation and smooth non-Kähler solutions in heterotic string theory, Nucl. Phys. B 751 (2006) 108
 [hep-th/0604137] [INSPIRE].
- [62] M. Cyrier and J.M. Lapan, Towards the massless spectrum of non-Kähler heterotic compactifications, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 10 (2006) 853 [hep-th/0605131] [INSPIRE].
- [63] A. Gray and L.M. Hervella, The sixteen classes of almost Hermitian manifolds and their linear invariants, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. IV Ser. 123 (1980) 35.
- [64] S. Chiossi and S. Salamon, The intrinsic torsion of SU(3) and G₂ structures, Differential geometry. Proceedings of the international conference held in honour of the 60th birthday of A.M. Naveira, Valencia Spain July 8–14 2001, O. Gil-Medrano et al. eds., World Scientific, Singapore (2002), pg. 115.
- [65] G. Lopes Cardoso, G. Curio, G. Dall'Agata, D. Lüst, P. Manousselis and G. Zoupanos, Non-Kähler string backgrounds and their five torsion classes, Nucl. Phys. B 652 (2003) 5 [hep-th/0211118] [INSPIRE].
- [66] J.P. Gauntlett, D. Martelli and D. Waldram, Superstrings with intrinsic torsion, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 086002 [hep-th/0302158] [INSPIRE].
- [67] L. Witten and E. Witten, Large radius expansion of superstring compactifications, Nucl. Phys. B 281 (1987) 109 [INSPIRE].
- [68] J. Gillard, G. Papadopoulos and D. Tsimpis, Anomaly, fluxes and (2,0) heterotic string compactifications, JHEP 06 (2003) 035 [hep-th/0304126] [INSPIRE].
- [69] L. Anguelova, C. Quigley and S. Sethi, The leading quantum corrections to stringy Kähler potentials, JHEP 10 (2010) 065 [arXiv:1007.4793] [INSPIRE].